

[image: ]








[image: alt]



















IN THESE TIMES


Living in Britain Through


Napoleon’s Wars


1793–1815


JENNY UGLOW









[image: ]

























For Hermione and John


































[image: ]







CONTENTS









	Title Page


	Dedication


	Map


	1. Who tells the news?


	I: STIRRING, 1789–1792


	2. Down with Tom Paine!


	II: ARMING, 1793–1796


	3. The universal pant for glory


	4. Flanders and Toulon


	5. Scarlet, shoes and guns


	6. British tars


	7. Trials and tribulations


	8. Warp and weft


	9. Money, city and country


	10. ‘Are we forgotten?’


	11. High life


	12. Four farmers


	13. Portsmouth deliveries


	14. Bread


	15. East and west


	III: WATCHING, 1797–1801


	16. Invasions, spies and poets


	17. Mutinies and militia


	18. Cash in hand


	19. At sea and on land


	20. The powerhouse


	21: ‘Check proud invasion’s boast’


	22. Ireland


	23. The Nile and beyond


	24. ‘The distressedness of the times’


	25. God on our side


	26. ‘Good men should now close ranks’


	27. Denmark, Egypt, Boulogne – peace


	IV: PAUSING, 1801–1803


	28. France


	29. New voices


	30. ‘Always capable of doing mischief’


	31. Albion


	V: SAILING, 1803–1808


	32. Into war again


	33. ‘Fine strapping fellows’


	34. Press gangs and fencibles


	35. Panic and propaganda


	36. ‘Every farthing I can get’


	37. The business of defence


	38. Trafalgar


	39. All the talents


	40. Private lives


	41. Abolition and after


	42. Danes and Turks


	43. Orders in council


	44. Land


	VI: FIGHTING, 1809–1815


	45. ‘Caesar is everywhere’


	46. Scandals, Flanders and fevers


	47. Going to the show


	48. Burdett and press freedom


	49. ‘Brookes’s and Buonaparte’, Cintra and Troy


	50. Storms of trade


	51. The coming of the sheep


	52. Sieges and prisoners


	53. Luddites and protests


	54. Prince, Perceval, Portland


	55. Three fronts


	56. Sailors


	57. Swagger and civilisation


	58. ‘We are to have our rejoicings’


	VII: ENDINGS, 1815 and beyond


	59. To Waterloo and St Helena


	60. Afterwards


	Principal events of the wars


	Acknowledgements


	Sources and abbreviations


	Select Bibliography


	List of illustrations


	Index


	Plates


	About the Author


	By the Same Author


	Copyright

























Map







[image: ]



























[image: ]





1. WHO TELLS THE NEWS?





The cathedral city of Canterbury had a barracks on the downs nearby until it closed, when the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders left, in March 2013. In the last fifty years soldiers have gone from here to the Falklands, the Gulf War, Iraq and Afghanistan. This is my home town and I have seen feelings veer over time from antipathy – squaddies barred from pubs – to respect and sympathy – ‘help for heroes’ – and back to suspicion again. ‘One does wonder, though, why they joined the army in the first place?’ asked a woman, looking sideways at me on the bus. Not so different then, from the way people spoke about Wellington’s ‘scum of the earth’, the heroes of the Peninsular War. The first barracks here were built for them in Military Road by a young speculator of dubious reputation. He made a fortune.


In the twenty-two years from 1793 to 1815, with a brief gap in 1802–3, the French Revolutionary Wars and the Napoleonic Wars touched people in every part of Britain. Boys who were babies when the wars began fought in the Peninsula and at Waterloo. Because of the way recruiting and balloting were organised, every village, every ‘hundred’, had to list its men, and men from one in five families were directly involved, in the army and navy, the militia and volunteers. As the years passed, so the bullish, flamboyant figure of Napoleon came to dominate so strongly that the whole conflict was given his name and Boney became the bogeyman of children’s nightmares. The period has been labelled in different ways – the Romantic Era, the Age of Wonder, the Age of Scandal, the Age of Cant – yet behind all those lay a country at war. And as I thought about the men who marched away I began to wonder, how did the wars affect the lives of people in Britain, not those who fought, but those at home looking on, waiting, working, watching?


This book is an attempt to pursue that question by following a few people and families. It is a cavalcade with a host of actors – a crowd biography, if such a thing is possible. It moves from fields and farms to dockyards and foundries, theatres and fairs, drawing rooms and clubs. It follows the back and forth of war and domestic politics, seeing how news reached the people, how fear bred suspicion and propaganda fuelled patriotism, how victories were celebrated and the dead were mourned, how some became rich and others starved. The big names are here – Pitt, Fox, Nelson, Wellington, Wilberforce and others – but history is not a matter of individual lives, however powerful or heroic. It is multi-layered, with many facets. At some times in this story conflict at home seems more pressing than battles abroad, with the state silencing free speech, spies sending reports, the militia firing on crowds. In Ireland that conflict was deadly. For some people the reports and rumours of victories and defeats and the accounts of Napoleon’s lightning marches were like a huge running serial that they could not get enough of. For others they were a muddle of confused events in places with difficult foreign names, humming in the background, slipping off the side of the page. The wars were like permanent bad weather, so all-surrounding that people stopped referring to them and merely said ‘in these dismal times’, ‘in such troubling and dangerous times’ or simply ‘in these times’. They affected everyone, sometimes directly, and sometimes almost without their knowing it, and in the process the underlying structures of British society ground against each other and slowly shifted, like the invisible movement of tectonic plates.


To sketch the bigger picture, the telling swerves from general to particular, from the state of the wool trade or the action of a military campaign to a man tilling a field, a woman sitting on the stairs. And although the wars and the political disputes are areas of collective action – regiments and crews, parties, crowds and mobs – the detail of those lives also suggests how separate our lives are, even when we call ourselves a ‘nation’. What has a widow tramping to see a wounded son to do with a countess gambling in St James’s? How does a south Wales ironworker connect with a country banker, or an elderly clergyman in his study? What ‘world’ do they share?


The war rumbles beneath the late poems of Burns, and colours the work of Scott, Wordsworth, Coleridge and Lamb, Clare, Byron and Shelley; it affects Maria Edgeworth and Jane Austen; it prompts moral outpourings from Hannah More and angry articles from Cobbett and Leigh Hunt; it inspires paintings by de Loutherbourg and Turner. The prints of Gillray, Rowlandson, the Cruikshanks and fellow satirists are a version of the history in themselves, biased and brilliant. These names have endured. But men and women of all classes wrote letters, diaries and memoirs. And many thousands, from women applying for parish relief to relatives looking for places for war orphans, left no record but signed their name only with a cross, on documents still in the archives. Among the crowds, here are some of the voices in this book:




The Heber family of Shropshire and London, clergymen and bibliophiles


William Harness, soldier, and his wife Bessy


James Oakes, prosperous citizen of Bury St Edmunds


The Gurney family, Norwich bankers with many children and cousins


Samuel and Hannah Greg, of Quarry Bank Mill in Lancashire


The Hoare family, private bankers in Fleet Street


The Galton family, gunsmiths of Birmingham


William Rowbottom, Oldham weaver


Boys: Samuel Bamford from Manchester, William Lovett from Penzance, Thomas Cooper from Gainsborough, future Chartist writers and leaders


John Marshall, linen-mill owner from Leeds


Aristocrats: Amabel Hume-Campbell, Countess de Grey, and her friend Agneta Yorke; Lady Jerningham and her daughter Charlotte; Sarah Spencer, later Lady Lyttelton


Betsey Fremantle and her sister Eugenia Wynne


Mary Hardy, from a Norfolk brewing family


Farmers: James Badenach of Aberdeen, Randall Burroughes from Suffolk, William Barnard of Essex


Robert Pilkington of the arms depot at Weedon Bec, Northamptonshire


Sailors: Jane Austen’s sailor brothers Francis and Charles; Lieutenant Thomas Gill; the Scottish seamen, John Nicol and Robert Hay


William Salmon, a young merchant mariner from the Bristol Channel


Thomas Perronet Thompson from Hull, soldier, briefly Governor of Sierra Leone


The Hutchinson family, farmers from County Durham, and their cousins the Monkhouses from Cumberland


The Longsdon family, farmers and textile merchants from Derbyshire


James Weatherley, factory boy in Manchester


The Chambers brothers, William and Robert, growing up in Peebles and Edinburgh







*





What did newspaper readers in a provincial town know, or think, about their country at the start of the 1790s? They were told, repeatedly, that Britain was a great power despite losing the American colonies only a decade or so before. The humiliation made the older generation nervous of war, yet the American conflict was also an arena where soldiers and sailors, contractors and arms-makers proved themselves and learned lessons. Since then, horizons had widened and trade had grown: travel books offered graphic accounts of distant countries and wild tracts still to be explored. People read of wars in India, trading posts in the East Indies, sugar and slavery in the Caribbean, rivers in Africa and new convict settlements in Australia. They began talking of ‘empire’. And at home, they had become surprisingly fond of their king, George III, celebrating his recovery from a bout of madness in 1788 with tears and relief, and disapproving, by contrast, of the Prince of Wales and his extravagant ways.


When war came, the London and provincial papers carried full reports of debates and immensely detailed – if late and often inaccurate – accounts of military and naval actions, copied from despatches in the official Gazette. Although papers carried a heavy tax and were expensive, news spread fast. Men and women interested in politics and the progress of the war devoured papers, pamphlets, and monthly and quarterly journals, discussing them in the book clubs that met in many towns, collecting eclectic libraries of history and travel, romances and philosophy, sermons and verse. These were social as much as literary gatherings: the Birmingham Book Club, which had been going since the mid-1770s, had a group portrait painted in 1792, showing a convivial bunch of radical tradesmen with clay pipes and tankards on the table, and not a book to be seen.1 In all clubs, members argued over their purchases, especially political works. In Jane Austen’s Northanger Abbey, written in the late 1790s, General Tilney, a keen book club member, despatches the young women to bed, explaining, ‘I have many pamphlets to finish before I close my eyes, and perhaps may be poring over the affairs of the nation for hours after you are asleep.’2


The news was part of daily life for many middle-class families. Mary Russell Mitford was five when the war broke out. Despite her family’s financial problems as her father gambled his way through her mother’s fortune, they could always afford their paper. As a toddler Mitford was perched on the breakfast table ‘to read some Foxite newspaper, “Courier” or “Morning Chronicle”, the Whiggish oracles of the day’. As a reward her mother would read the ballad of the Children in the Wood, ‘and I looked for my favourite ballad after every performance, just as the piping bullfinch that hung in the window looked for his lump of sugar after going through “God save the King”. The two cases were exactly parallel.’3 The leisured classes who could not afford a daily paper took one weekly, or relied on the Evening Mail, which arrived every Monday, Wednesday and Friday. Friends and relatives commented on war news in the press as something shared. During the Revolutionary Wars, from 1793 to 1802, the Revd Reginald Heber exchanged letters almost every week with his sister Elizabeth in London. Elizabeth and her sister Anne sent groceries like Bohea tea, nutmeg or pyramid sugar to the Shropshire family, and looked after their sons when they went to school in the south. Their affectionate letters were often sprinkled with the phrase ‘You will have seen in the papers’, usually accompanied by expressions of horror at French excesses or the riotous populace at home.


Less well-off families sometimes shared subscriptions. William Chambers’s father, an avid reader of the twice-weekly Edinburgh Star, could not afford to subscribe: ‘All he could do was to be a member of a club to take in the paper, which was handed about to one after the other, each member being allowed to have it in turn for a certain number of hours.’4 Men also read the news in subscription reading rooms, coffee houses and taverns, which took a wide range of papers. Visiting Glasgow in 1802, Dorothy Wordsworth found ‘the largest coffee room I ever saw’, in the piazza of the Exchange. ‘Perhaps there might be thirty gentlemen sitting on the circular bench of the window, each reading a newspaper,’ she wrote in her journal, looking like ‘men seen at the extremity of the opera-house, diminished into puppets.’5 The linen-mill owner John Marshall also admired the room, brilliantly lit with candles, and rarely with fewer than a hundred people in it. ‘There are 1100 Subscribers to the Coffee Room at 28/- a year,’ he noted carefully. ‘They take London & Edinburgh papers & journals, country papers & 9 copies of the Sun, Star & Courier & all the monthly publications.’6 Although this was exceptional, most manufacturing towns and ports, even small ones, had reading rooms, sometimes with one room for British and one for foreign papers. At Teignmouth, the public library took the London papers, including the Hunts’ weekly Examiner. In London, papers were hired out by the hour then sent to the provinces, an annoyance to the government, since vendors sent them back as ‘unsold’, dodging the tax.


The progress of the war and the battles of politics were played out, too, in songs and ballads, plays and processions. Queues formed round print-shop windows to see the latest satires, and pedlars carried broadsheets with crude woodcuts of ships and guns and John Bull in his many guises.
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J. Elwood, a print shop window, 1790








Workers read the papers aloud in taverns, so that even the illiterate could follow the news.7 When Alexander Aikin visited the great copper mine in Parys, Anglesey, on a mild summer Sunday in 1797, he saw ‘a circle of men gathered around a point of rock on which was seated the orator of the party reading a newspaper aloud and commenting upon it’.8 But still, local and personal concerns came first: weather and wages, bread and board, children and love affairs. The sailor John Nicol found this when he borrowed the papers from the owner of a quarry where he was hiding from the press gang. ‘The other workmen assembled in my cottage on the evenings I got them and I read them aloud,’ he remembered. ‘Then we would discuss the important parts together. When they spoke of heavy taxes I talked of China. When they complained of hard times I told them of West Indian slaves – but neither could make any impression on the other.’9


As the men (and some women) marched and sailed off to war, letters from soldiers and sailors were longed-for events. ‘I could almost have jumped out of the window to snatch the letters from him,’ wrote Sarah Spencer, waiting in the bow window in the sunshine for the messenger who collected their letters from the post, and might bring one from her midshipman brother.10 As letters circulated, family and friends often found their accounts at odds with the official despatches. From Flanders in 1794, Major William Harness wrote home to his wife, complaining about the inaccuracies of the press and the lack of trust in the army:




I can easily suppose that this event will give place to infinitely less probable reports in the English Papers; for we have seen that credulous Country put in alarm from accounts that deserve as little attention, by the flaming Editor of a Newspaper, whose ignorance of the geography of the Country, of position, and dispositions, can only be equalled by his absolute blindness of the force, even of ourselves. My Bessy will never let her judgement be drawn away by these hired pervertors of Truth.11





This tirade was prompted by Bessy telling him that she had been reading the Courier. ‘That iniquitous paper’, he raged. ‘What a diabolic Trade do these despicable wretches rest their subsistence upon!’ ‘All read of war,’ Coleridge wrote in ‘Fears in Solitude’, ‘The best amusement for our morning meal!’


Alternately trusting and distrusting the papers, people made their own records. In letters, diaries and memoirs they tried to make sense of the times, as well as recording their daily lives. William Rowbottom, a hand-loom weaver, living in Burnley Lane near Oldham, was approaching forty at the start of the war. Almost every day he wrote in his vellum-bound notebooks, in sloping copperplate. He rarely wrote of himself, his brothers and sisters, his wife Anne – or Nanny – and their six children.12 Instead he recorded local events, as a conscious historical exercise. He loved statistics – the number of households, the records of births, marriages and deaths. He listed prices – meal, flour, pease, malt, treacle, butter, bacon, soap, salt and candles – and marked their rise and fall. His politics are clear: on 26 December 1797, he wrote, ‘Died the great patriot who put a stop to general Warrants, John Wilkes Esquire FRS’; on 14 July 1800, ‘Died Crispin Clegg, tailor of Royton, a person formerly attached to the Cause of Freedom.’ He used the word ‘patriot’ in its old sense of one speaking for the country against a cabal of ministerial and court interests, the way the Tory Samuel Johnson had used it, in ‘Patriotism is the last refuge of a scoundrel.’ In his account people march past, ballad-singers, grocers, blacksmiths and innkeepers; they die from old age, consumption and fever; they kill themselves for love or for the shame of bankruptcy; a mother, holding her baby in her arms, leans too close to the spindle on her spinning wheel. These daily losses seem more terrible than the impersonal lists of numbers lost at sea or in battle. But behind everything rolls ‘this disasterous war’.


At the other end of the social scale, diarists, letter-writers and memoirists among the aristocracy and gentry also recorded events. Betsey and Eugenia Wynne, for example, began writing their diaries in exercise books on the same day, when they were eleven and nine, and Betsey kept hers up, with one pause, until she died in her eightieth year. The Wynnes lived abroad after Betsey’s high-living father met financial trouble in the mid-1780s, but in 1796, alarmed by the progress of the French army, they left Florence and sailed from Livorno on the Inconstant. In Naples a few months later, Betsey married the frigate’s captain, Thomas Fremantle, their wedding organised by Emma, Lady Hamilton. Sailing with the fleet after the attack on Tenerife in which Nelson lost his arm, the nineteen-year-old Betsey nursed both her badly wounded husband and his commander: as Thomas reminded her years later, remembering Nelson, ‘the first note he ever wrote with his left hand was to you.’13 So Betsey’s diaries move from sea battles and crowded ports to London parties and politics, the love-lives of her sisters, Eugenia, Harriet and Justinia, and the years of bringing up her nine children, waiting for letters from Thomas, her ‘caro sposo’, to ‘my dearest Tussy’, as he called her, when he sailed off to war again.


Some of Betsey’s elite set were wild and improvident, some were pious, some brilliant, some boring, some wealthy, some drowning in debt. But they all wrote constantly. They wrote in the morning and the afternoon and in the early hours, in studies and boudoirs, clubs and their country houses. They wrote at home and on the road – many coaches had fitted writing desks. They sent notes across town and wax-sealed letters to the country; they wrote to children at school, to friends they had seen an hour ago, and to their soldier and sailor sons and husbands. Opening the thin, closely written sheets, men on campaigns read accounts of balls and outings, pets and horses, the hay crop and the filling of the beer casks, like news from another world.




Notes
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11 Bod. MSS Eng. c. 7330, 28 December 1794


12 All quotations are taken from the Oldham Library text, but an edited version for 1793–9 is in The Most Dismal Times, ed. Alan Peat (1996). William, b. 1757, was the oldest of six children. He married Nanny Wood, 10 November 1777. They had seven children: Michael (died as a baby) b. 1778, Ann b. 1780, William b. 1785, John b. 1788, Betty b. 1790, Thomas b. 1793, George b. 1798.
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I: STIRRING


1789–1792











… shaken the forests of France, sick the kings of the nations,


And the bottoms of the world were open’d, and the graves of archangels unseal’d:


The enormous dead lift up their pale fires and look over the rocky cliffs.


WILLIAM BLAKE, The French Revolution, 1791
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2. DOWN WITH TOM PAINE!





On Boxing Day, 26 December 1790, the Revd Reginald Heber, in his rectory at Malpas in Cheshire, settled down to write to his sister Elizabeth. Living comfortably off inherited estates in Yorkshire and Shropshire, Heber disapproved profoundly of the liberal ideas of nonconformist leaders like Richard Price and Joseph Priestley. ‘I have sent for Mr Burke’s book on the French Revolution which everybody reads,’ he told his sister, ‘and I hear everybody but your Prices and Priestleys and rank Republicans and King-Killers approves.’1 When it arrived, he read it with ‘uncommon pleasure and admiration’.


The book was Reflections on the Revolution in France, a passionate polemic greeted with such enthusiasm that it shot through eleven editions within a year. Most people in Britain had welcomed the fall of the Bastille in 1789, seeing it as a symbol of the overthrow of absolutism, edging their traditional enemy nearer to British constitutional rule. The Whig leader Charles James Fox rejoiced: ‘How much the greatest Event it is that ever happened in the World! & how much the best!’2 The national and provincial papers were approving, some warmly so. Joseph Gale’s Sheffield Register hailed ‘twenty-six millions of our fellow creatures bursting their chains and throwing off, almost in an instant, the degrading yoke of slavery’, adding that other governments must take note.3 William Pitt, who had led the British government since he became First Lord of the Treasury in 1783, at the age of twenty-four, was determined, however, not to take serious note, being more concerned with his mission to solve the huge national debt lingering after the American war. He felt sympathy for the French government, he told the House of Commons, but ‘the present convulsions … must, sooner or later, terminate in general harmony and regular order.’ They might even make France a better neighbour. With ‘freedom resulting from good order and good government’, he declared breezily, ‘France would stand forward as one of the most brilliant Powers in Europe; she would enjoy just that kind of liberty which I venerate.’4


Within a year doubts set in. How would the members like it, Burke asked the House of Commons in a speech on army estimates in February 1790, ‘to have their mansions pulled down and pillaged, their persons abused, insulted, and destroyed; their title deeds brought out and burned before their faces, and themselves driven to seek refuge in every nation throughout Europe’.5 And all this for no other reason than that they were born gentlemen, and men of property? In November, in his Reflections, Burke argued that if the French aristocracy were wiped out, the balance of the constitution would vanish, allowing an unprincipled democracy to emerge: this would lead to licence, then to the rise of demagogues and a new despotism.6 Worse, the revolutionary spirit was infectious: it could spread across the Channel if not checked. Since Burke had supported the American Revolution, his old allies in the Commons were startled and derisory, and pamphlets and books poured from the press to show his errors. Mary Wollstonecraft wrote A Vindication of the Rights of Men at such red-hot speed that it appeared only a fortnight after Burke’s tract. In it she attacked his version of the Revolution as the work of a heated imagination, coloured by wild metaphors, and argued that rights should be conferred because they were just, rather than traditional; the social contract must be based on sympathy and reason rather than custom.


A pamphlet war followed, and in March 1791, Thomas Paine published the first part of the Rights of Man. In Paine’s analysis, the lauded virtue of hereditary monarchy was a fable, a legend woven by those who clung to power. Countering Burke’s belief that the nobility were the ‘natural’ leaders, he argued that each nation, each generation, should have the right to choose its own form of government: the deposition of Louis XVI was therefore justified. Part Two of the Rights of Man, published the following February, used the example of America to argue for a republic approved by the people. When the book’s price was reduced to sixpence so that working men could buy it, the government panicked. Paine fled to France and was convicted of seditious libel in his absence. But nothing could stop the spread of his ideas, anathema to the Revd Heber and his family.




*





Eighteen years later, in Coleridge’s journal The Friend, Wordsworth looked back on the Revolution, ‘As it appeared to enthusiasts at its commencement’, in a passage that he included later in his autobiographical The Prelude:








Bliss was it in that dawn to be alive,


But to be young was very heaven!, oh! times,


In which the meagre stale forbidding ways


Of custom, law, and statute, took at once


The attraction of a country in Romance!


When Reason seem’d the most to assert her rights.











‘To be young’ was the key: to feel that doors were opening, dreams of freedom could be realised, the yoke of habit thrown off, the encrusted laws of state overturned. The whole world could be changed.


The French Revolution, with its promise of a new political order, fitted the exuberant mood when ‘Reason’ was unveiling different patterns in the universe itself and in the solid-seeming material world. People thrilled to the finding of a new planet, Uranus, discovered by William and Caroline Herschel in 1781. Amateur astronomers looked through their telescopes at a night sky ever expanding, while botanists peered through microscopes at the tiniest operations of seeds and tissue. People watched balloon flights soar into the sky, and experimented with electricity and new-found gases. All these gave dizzying perspectives. But even this intellectual excitement now began to seem dangerous. Burke implicitly linked science and the Revolution as potentially explosive. ‘When I see the spirit of liberty in action, I see a strong principle at work; and this, for a while, is all I can possibly know of it,’ he wrote. ‘The wild gas, the fixed air is plainly broke loose: but we ought to suspend our judgments until the first effervescence is a little subsided, till the liquor is cleared, and until we see something deeper than the agitation of the troubled and frothy surface.’7


Alarm increased as events raced on in France. In late June 1791, Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette fled from Paris, aiming to take refuge in Austria, where Marie Antoinette’s brother, Leopold II, was emperor, and mount a counter-revolution. They were recognised and arrested in the small town of Varennes, and brought back to Paris under guard. Their flight changed everything, hardening opinion against the king, who had not only rejected the Revolution but was, it seemed, planning to join the enemies of France. At the end of September, the French National Assembly was dissolved, and a Legislative Assembly established. As the British loyalists heard of the doings of the French sans-culottes, their fear of the mob grew. Disquieted by talk of ‘frenzy’, ‘madness’ and ‘agitation’, they turned nervously to assurances of order, a strong government, and trust in a strict overruling Providence. Repression, not revolution, was in the air.




As well as arguing about the Revolution’s political rights and wrongs, people feared that it might draw Britain into war. In mid-February 1792, calming this apprehension, Pitt stifled appeals to increase military funding: instead he cut the budget of both army and navy. He also repealed a tranche of taxes, increasingly hopeful that the national debt was gradually being repaid. The present prosperity might not last, he told the Commons, ‘but unquestionably there never was a time in the history of this country, when, from the situation of Europe, we might more reasonably expect fifteen years of peace, than we may at the present moment’.8


A month after this blithe speech, Leopold II of Austria formed an alliance with the King of Prussia against France, inviting the other European powers to join them. Approached by both sides, Pitt declined to intervene. If he had, would that have saved Louis, branded as a traitor for colluding with his country’s enemies? On 20 April 1792, the Assembly in Paris declared war on Austria. Immediately, Austria and Prussia, soon joined by Russia, took to the battlefield. (Despite their vows to avenge the Bourbons, critics saw this move as prompted more by a desire to expand their own territories while France, they thought, was weak.) In July a Prussian army crossed the French border, led by the Duke of Brunswick, who issued a manifesto promising to restore the king and condemn all rebels to death. More violence towards the royal family would, Brunswick said, provoke an ‘ever memorable vengeance by delivering over the city of Paris to military execution and complete destruction’.9 This merely roused the revolutionaries to fresh fervour; if there was no chance even of a modified monarchy, they had nothing to lose. They must win the war.





In Britain, there were already societies formed to debate political reform, like the gentlemanly Society for Constitutional Information, founded by Major John Cartwright in 1780. Now others sprang up, like the London Corresponding Society, started by the Scottish shoemaker Thomas Hardy in January 1792, and the Society of Friends of the People, organised by the playwright and politician Richard Brinsley Sheridan, with Charles Grey, Lord John Russell and opposition Whigs. All these wrote to support the French. In London and the provinces, clubs abandoned the old reformist language, with its appeal to Saxon liberties, Magna Carta and the Commonwealth, in favour of the rhetoric of French egalitarianism and Paine’s Rights of Man. Opposing them, government spokesmen propounded a new ‘patriotism’, supporting Church and King.


By now Pitt had dropped his insouciant unconcern, disquieted by events abroad and the reform clubs at home. In May a Royal Proclamation banned ‘tumultuous meetings and seditious writings’. ‘You see there is a proclamation issued, not before it was wanted,’ Elizabeth Heber wrote to her clergyman brother; ‘God preserve us from the wicked devices of republicans and dissenters of all denominations.’10 The Sun and the True Briton, founded with ministerial help, stirred up fears, and the placeman John Reeves formed the Association for Preserving Liberty and Property against Republicans and Levellers, which spawned two thousand branches. In Bath, hundreds signed a typical ‘loyal declaration’:




That the wild doctrine of equality newly propagated is unknown to the English Constitution, is incompatible with Civil Society, and only held forth as a Delusion to mislead the lower ranks of the people, to poison the minds of his Majesty’s subjects, to subvert all distinctions, to destroy subordination between Man and Man, and to substitute Anarchy in the place of our mild and happy Government.11





In Manchester, Samuel Bamford’s father, a Wesleyan and a reformer, read Paine’s Rights of Man and Age of Reason. Inspired, he formed a group with his brother and friends – an apothecary, two weavers and a shoemaker – who ‘met at each other’s houses, to read such of the current publications as their small means allowed them to obtain, and to converse on the affairs of the nation, and other political subjects’. They were quickly labelled ‘Painites’ and ‘Jacobins’ (after the revolutionary French Société des Amis de la Constitution, known as the Club des Jacobins from the Dominican convent where they met, in the Rue St Jacques). The five-year-old Bamford, sitting on the doorstep and watching the decorated carts pass by in the processions during the annual Wakes Week holiday, noticed a figure teetering on the back of the last cart. The crowd threw stones at it, shouting:




‘Tum Pain a Jacobin’ – ‘Tum Pain a thief’ – ‘Deawn wi o’ th’ Jacobins’ – ‘Deaawn wi’th Painites’ – whilst others with guns and pistols kept discharging them at the figure … Poor Paine was thus shot in effigy on Saturday, repaired, re-embellished and again set upright on Sunday; and murdered out-and-out on Monday – being again riddled with shot, and finally burned. I, of course, became a friend of Thomas Paine’s.12





The previous year had already seen Church and King riots in Birmingham, when the dissenting leader Joseph Priestley’s house and laboratory were burned. Now more loyalist riots flared. The poet William Cowper, although he had laid aside his early sympathy for the revolutionaries, was one of those who feared the government’s encouragement of such demonstrations. The wisest thing, he mused, in a letter to Lady Hesketh, ‘is to let those crackers sleep if they are disposed to do so. Fired as they may be today on the right side, you cannot be sure that they will not prove equally combustible on the wrong tomorrow.’13


Every month the press reported new French excesses and carried reports of crowds jeering and spitting as aristocrats were wheeled to the guillotine, whose blade had sliced down for the first time that spring. British sympathisers in Paris began to grow wary. The aspiring surgeon Astley Cooper, who had gone there in June with his new wife Anne to study under leading French surgeons, and had listened avidly to the debates of the National Assembly, was in the streets on 10 August when a crowd stormed the Tuileries and slaughtered the Swiss guard. Next day, in blistering heat, he and Anne wove through the crowds watching Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette taken to prison. In the Tuileries courtyard they found mutilated bodies piled high: another English visitor described the many beautiful ladies, ‘walking arm in arm with their male friends … contemplating the mangled naked and stiff carcasses’.14 Soon the Coopers and many others left Paris. A month later, fearing that imprisoned men would rise up in support of the foreign armies, National Guardsmen and others launched a wave of prison massacres. On 20 September, a formidably armed French force led by General Charles-François Dumouriez met Brunswick and his Prussians at Valmy near Reims and forced them into retreat. Next day, France was proclaimed a republic.


In November the French defeated the Austrians again at the battle of Jemappes, and soon afterwards the National Convention issued the ‘Decree of Fraternity and Assistance to all People’, promising fraternal help to all those who wanted to regain their ‘liberty’. The exhilarated republican armies swept on: in the north they took Brussels, and in the east they took Savoy. At the start of December the Convention put Louis XVI on trial.


Some British citizens stayed on in France. Mary Wollstonecraft, who wrote her Vindication of the Rights of Woman in response to French debates about women’s education and role, reached Paris that December. Sheltered by being registered as the wife of the American Gilbert Imlay, she lingered in France until 1795. But most British visitors turned hastily towards the Channel. Wordsworth had been in France since November 1791, joining other young enthusiasts like James Watt junior and Tom Wedgwood, and feeling inspired by the revolutionary fervour of Helen Maria Williams. He also fell in love with Annette Vallon in Orléans. He waited in Paris until Annette sent him news of the birth of their daughter Caroline, then he returned to England, pleading lack of money. His sadness would last for years. When he wrote the first drafts of The Prelude he remembered how in Paris that year, he had seen ‘the Revolutionary Power’








Toss like a ship at anchor, rocked by storms …


I stared and listened with a stranger’s ears,


To Hawkers and Haranguers, Hubbub wild!


And hissing Factionists, with ardent eyes,


In knots, or pairs, or single …











It seemed that the inspiring energy of 1789 was metamorphosing into darker passions and factions. But still, sympathetic British delegations took addresses to the Convention celebrating French victories. The Society for Constitutional Information offered more than words, donating a thousand pairs of shoes for the ‘soldiers of Liberty’, saying that they intended to send a thousand pairs each week for the next six weeks.15 Whether or not those shoes ever reached the French armies, they caused horror in Westminster. And while the young clown Joe Grimaldi entertained the crowds at Sadler’s Wells in pantomimes like The Sans Culottes and the Grand Culottes, around the country the streets were increasingly tense. ‘December 7’, wrote William Rowbottom, ‘the people of Great Britain much divided and great commotions and strife concerning Paines’ “Rights of Man”’. In the following week, in a three-day riot in Manchester, the Church and King mob attacked Unitarian chapels, besieged reformers’ houses and trashed the offices of the radical Manchester Herald. At the same time, a rumour reached the Home Office that French Jacobins, disguised as priests and even as waiters, were plotting with British radicals to storm the Tower and the Bank of England.16 The government called for the Tower to be strengthened and brought troops into the capital. In parliament Fox and Sheridan dismissed this as a hoax, a shadow terror created by Pitt to frighten people into attacking dissenters and republicans. Measures were passed to increase the army and navy, stop grain exports to France, and vote through an emergency Aliens Bill to remove ‘undesireable’ foreigners.


During a discussion of this Bill in late December, in a gesture that soon became famous, Burke flung down a dagger on to the floor of the House of Commons, describing it as the pattern for three thousand knives ordered by Jacobins among the Birmingham metalworkers, ‘a sample of the fruits to be obtained by an alliance with France’. Picking up the blade and holding it high, he stormed: ‘It is my object to keep the French infection from this country, their principles from our minds and their daggers from our hearts … When they smile, I see blood trickling down their faces; I see their insidious purposes; I see that the object of all their cajoling is – blood!’17


While the Alien Office set about keeping the ‘French infection’ out, French émigrés poured across the Channel. The royalist refugees were often surrounded by a romantic aura, like the Marquise de Beaule, who dressed as a sailor on a fishing boat and smuggled her maid across in a trunk, or the twenty-one-year-old, pregnant Comtesse de Noailles, who hid in a coil of rope, dressed as a boy. When she reached Brighton her old friend Maria Fitzherbert whisked her off to watch a cricket match with the Prince of Wales.18 But the refugees were also marked by tragedy. Jane Austen’s cousin, Eliza, who had married Jean-François Capot de Feuillide, a captain in Marie Antoinette’s dragoons, had been in London with her small son Hastings at the storming of the Bastille. While she stayed in England, her husband returned to France, anxious that his land might be confiscated. He was guillotined in March 1794.
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James Gillray, The dagger scene, or Plot discover’d. Burke flings the dagger, Fox and Sheridan recoil and Pitt’s hair stands on end.








Fanny Burney, staying with her sister at Mickleham in Surrey, described the take-over of nearby houses like Juniper Hall, which was occupied by aristocrats, most of them reformers who had initially welcomed the Revolution. Among them was the Comte d’Arblay, whom Fanny would marry in 1793, despite her father’s disapproval. ‘As my Partner is a French man,’ she admitted to a friend:




I conclude the wonder raised by the connection may spread beyond my own private circle: but no wonder upon Earth can ever arrive near my own in having found such a Character from that Nation. – This is a prejudice certainly impertinent & very John Bullish, & very arrogant; but I only share it with all my Country men, & therefore – must needs forgive both them & myself!19





Soon they had a son, Alex, and moved to a small cottage in the country. Not far away, the Abbey School at Reading, run by M. Saint-Quentin and his English wife – where Jane and Cassandra Austen had gone in the 1780s and where Mary Martha Butt, later the prolific author Mrs Sherwood, was now a pupil – was rapidly becoming a small French colony. Mrs Sherwood remembered how when one girl, without thinking, struck up the revolutionary song ‘Ça ira!’, ‘It will be fine’, on the piano, the Marquise St Julien ‘flew out of the house and into the street, wringing her aged hands and crying aloud like one deranged’.20 Not surprisingly, since one version ran,








Ah, ça ira, ça ira, ça ira


Les aristocrats à la lanterne.
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James Aitken, Hell Broke Loose, or, The Murder of Louis, 1793. As the guillotine descends, flying devils sing ‘Ça ira’








There was some confusion with regard to ‘aliens’. Émigrés found work in every corner of the country (Humphry Davy was taught French in Penzance by a refugee from the Vendée, and John Keats by the Abbé Beliard at Enfield), but The Times suggested that French servants should be dismissed and French milliners sent home. The fear of espionage grew, particularly around the naval dockyards. The Revd Heber’s cousin Mary received a letter from her friend Mrs Drake, lately staying on the coast. ‘The number of French people at Southampton and Portsmouth was scarcely credible, they came in such shoals,’ she wrote.




But they were never admitted, either Man or Woman, into the Dock-yard, and there was a double guard ordered to mount there on acct. of the french, and I think it was very proper for it was not possible to be sure that they were all Emigrants and persecuted people, as Spyes and ill-designing people very probably might come over in such a multitude.21





The new Alien Office, set up allegedly to hunt these foreign spies, was, however, soon spying on supposed rebels at home.22 There were arguments in the press, rows in assemblies and meetings, and much table-thumping in taverns and radical clubs. When William Rowbottom began his new diary for 1793, he noted:




This year comenced with very temperate wheather for the Season, but peoples minds far from temperate for a kind of frenzey as burst out amongst the people of this land under the cover of loyalty and shielded by the cryes of Church and King … The effigy of Tom was burnt &c in most of the towns and villages in England. In Oldham on New Year’s Day his effigie was with the greatest solemnety brought out of the dungeon and placed in a cart and from thence – atended by a Band of Music playing ‘God Save the King’ besides sixty two musketiers – was taken to the gallows erected over a large Bonfire in the street where he was for some time hung by the neck and then let down to the fire and then consumed to ashes.23





The tensions between loyalists and reformers, in parliament and the wider nation, became an escalating fight that framed many people’s experience. The polarisation that marked British attitudes throughout the war years was laid down before the conflict even began.
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II: ARMING
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Who will not sing, GOD SAVE THE KING,


Shall hang as high’s the steeple;


But while we sing, GOD SAVE THE KING,


We’ll ne’er forget THE PEOPLE!


                                            ROBERT BURNS, 1795
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3. THE UNIVERSAL PANT FOR GLORY





In the Gentleman’s Magazine in the spring of 1793 the poet Anna Seward, an earlier supporter of the Revolution, lamented events in Paris. ‘O, that the French had possessed the wisdom of knowing Where To Stop,’ she cried.1 It seemed, as the French hurtled on, that the British would inevitably be drawn into war. Pitt and his cousin William Grenville, the Foreign Secretary, had tried to stave off the conflict, negotiating hard to get the French to guarantee that they would not invade Holland. In Britain the conservative gentry and magistrates and the loyalist associations were all for war, while reformers and radicals, industrialists and merchants were generally against. While The Times trumpeted the need to fight to preserve the ‘British Constitution’, the opposition Morning Chronicle warned of sliding into a war fought on principle, when there was no threat to national security but great danger to trade and prosperity.


At the start of the new year rain and hail lashed the south, but in early February the weather cleared: snowdrops were flowering and the first thrushes began to appear in the gardens. In the streets, meanwhile, men were selling penny broadsides, handbills and pamphlets describing Louis XVI’s death on 21 January. Prints showed a kingly martyr bidding farewell to his sobbing family, and depicted his gory end. The rulers of Europe saw his execution as a threat to every crowned head, especially as the Convention had announced that all conquered territories would be declared republics. In Britain people poured their outrage into letters and diaries. ‘Janry 26, Saturday’ wrote Parson James Woodforde:




The King of France Louis 16. inhumanly & unjustly beheaded on Monday last by his cruel, blood-thirsty Subjects – Dreadful times I am afraid are approaching to all Europe – France the foundation of all of it – The poor King of France bore his horrid fate with manly fortitude & resignation – Pray God he may be eternally happy in thy heavenly Kingdom. And have mercy upon his Queen.2





Crowds wore mourning, or black crêpe bands, and Church and King mobs were out in force. To conservatives like the Revd Heber the execution of a king was the ultimate horror: ‘surely this heinous crime will draw down the Vengeance of Heaven on this devoted Race of barbarians.’3 He rejoiced that effigies of Tom Paine were ‘shot through and through and then burnt’, and that his own children were joining in: ‘Tiddy, Tom and Missy amused themselves yesterday in dressing up two figures to represent Tom Paine and Demourrier which they carried about stuck upon their hunting poles all day long, and in the evening suspended them from the balustrade at the top of the stairs, where they are still hanging.’4


In late January the National Convention rejected Grenville’s peace proposals, and when the news of Louis’s execution reached London, Pitt expelled the French ambassador. On 1 February the Convention declared war on Great Britain and the Republic of the United Netherlands.


On 12 February the House of Commons was packed: the Militia Bill was read for a second time, the business of Canal Bills was dealt with and the Accounts of the Commissioners of the National Debt. Pitt then rose to his feet to acknowledge that ‘War has been declared on us’:




The event is no longer in our option, for War has not only been declared, it is at our very door, War that aims at the total ruin of the freedom and independence of Great Britain … It now remains to be seen whether, under Providence, the efforts of a free, brave, loyal and happy people, aided by their allies, will not be successful in checking the progress of a system, the principles of which, if not opposed, threaten the most fatal consequences to the tranquillity of this country, the security of its allies, the good order of every European government and the happiness of the whole human race.5





As the MPs stepped out into a rain-drenched night, Britain was at war.




*





In the past century Britain had often fought France: in the War of the Spanish Succession from 1702 to 1713, the wars of Jenkins’s Ear and the Austrian Succession from 1739 to 1748, the Seven Years War from 1756 to 1763 and the American War of Independence, from 1775 to 1783. Yet in some ways this was a completely new enemy, its armies not the hired troops of an absolute monarch but the people of a revolutionary nation. It was easy to underestimate the passion, and fear, that drove these soldiers on. In early 1793, when the French had reached Brussels and opened the river Scheldt to trade through Antwerp, in competition with Amsterdam, Pitt and his ministers were less concerned with countering the republican menace than with practical imperatives. The urgent need, they agreed, was to stop the French marching into the Netherlands, threatening North Sea trade and the Dutch-held Cape of Good Hope, a vital calling-point on the British run to India.


Pitt gave Grenville the task of welding together an alliance with Austria, Russia and Prussia, and making separate agreements with Spain and Portugal, Sardinia and an array of Italian and German states. At thirty-three, Pitt already had nearly ten years’ experience in government, but none in handling a nation at war. He was, however, good at managing money – and he needed to be, since the costs, even of a short war, would be high. But if they could raise funds to pay for the army and navy and provide subsidies for foreign allies, he and his cabinet were convinced the ‘First Coalition’ must prevail. France looked weak and in disarray, while Austria and Prussia were well armed. The war, Pitt declared, should not last very long.




*





The news spread quickly. On 15 February 1793, three days after Pitt made his speech in the Commons, James Badenach, farming near Stonehaven south of Aberdeen, was writing his diary, describing the morning snow and the long day’s work, ploughing to sow barley and oats, planting horse chestnut and ash trees along the bank, and draining the bog for a new plantation. He recorded the prices of the day, corn and fodder, hay and oats, ‘all kinds of manufacture very brisk & high & Servants Extravagant. The French War may Alter Them. Early spring flowers rather backward – No Crocus or Snowdrops yet.’6 War meant a tightening of belts, a threat to trade, a humbling of servants.


The first thing that confirmed the changes to come was the beat of the recruiting drum, sounding in town squares, on village greens, at country fairs and city markets, as it had in wartime for a hundred years and more. Like travelling players, announcing their arrival with a drum, the regiments sent out a small band – a captain, a sergeant and a corporal, with their drummer and two private soldiers. When they planted their flag, the drummer took up his batons, and as the crowd gathered the captain leapt on to a bench, a chair or a cart and cajoled them into enlisting, offering a bounty and the prospect of booty ahead.


‘We had to strut about in our best coats,’ remembered Thomas Jackson of the Coldstream Guards, ‘and swaggering, sword in hand, drumming our way through the masses, commingled with gazing clodpoles, gingerbread mechanics, and thimble-rig sharpers.’7 When William Harness, a regular soldier, was recruiting in Sheffield, he set off with three or four other officers, as he told his wife Bessy:




Then follows a Cart with a Barrel of ale with fidlers and a Man with a Surloin of Roast Beef upon a pitch fork, then my Colours of yellow silk with a blue shield with a reath of oak leaves and trophies, and in Silver letters on one side ‘Capt. Harness’s Rangers’, on the other ‘Capt. Harness’s Saucy Sheffielders’.8





The sergeant, corps, drums and fifes followed. ‘You can conceive the stir in a prosperous place like this all this noise must make. I am become very popular.’


Harness was one of many officers recruiting their own companies. He had been in the army for thirteen years, saving money to marry his ‘adored Bessy’, Elizabeth Biggs, in 1791. During her long wait Bessy took up botany, tried to run a book club in her home town of Aylesbury, and loyally made him shirts. Once married, they settled on his half-pay in Dronfield, near Chesterfield in Derbyshire, in a cottage with a garden and orchard, and when the war started they had a two-year-old, Charles, and a baby, Jane. In 1793, William raised enough men to form a company in the new 80th Regiment of Foot.
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William and Elizabeth Harness








The cajoling and bribing and bullying were needed, since army life offered few solid benefits. Army service was unlimited – once in, you were there for life. That life might be short, since disease as well as battle cut men down, and it was certainly brutal, with harsh punishments for petty misdemeanours. The very poor, or the desperate, were the first to be tempted. Magistrates sent many others as an alternative to gaol. The French army used conscription, calling on every class, as Wellington would later say, notoriously, ‘but our friends … are the very scum of the earth’:




People talk of their enlisting from their fine military feeling – all stuff – no such thing. Some of our men enlist from having got bastard children – some for minor offences – many more for drink; but you can hardly conceive such a set brought together, and it really is wonderful that we should have made them the fine fellows they are.9





Regardless of the hard life, the idea of fighting with a regiment had a certain dashing attraction. Many memoir-writers testified how the moment they joined up changed their lives for ever. One recruit, Thomas Jackson, wrote, ‘I now saw myself a new figure – my head being trimmed to order, and crimped with hot irons; my blood red coat, white small-belows, with black leggings; belted and armed; and with a long leather cue, or tail, fashioned to my pole. A strange metamorphosis, thought I to myself, since the day before.’10


Countless boys and young men enlisted to get away from drudgery. In Norfolk, James Woodforde’s servant was one of those who felt the tug of glory:




May 10, Tuesday … On going to bed to Night, our Boy Tim Tooley who was supposed to have been gone to bed was not to be found – All his Cloaths gone also. It is thought he is gone to Norwich to enlist himself, as his Head has long run on a Soldiers Life – His being at Norwich last Saturday & then offered ten Guineas if he would go for a Soldier, determined him.


May 16, Monday … My late servant, Tim Tooley, called on us this morning, He came from Norwich with a Cockade in his Hat, and says he has entered himself in the thirty third Regiment of Foot – Poor Fellow, he appeared happy & looked well – I paid him what Wages were due to him and half a Crown extraordinary – in all – 17:6.11





Debt-ridden students also fled to the army, including Samuel Taylor Coleridge, who signed up secretly as a private in the 15th Light Dragoons in a moment of guilt-ridden frenzy, as ‘Silas Tomkyn Comberbache’. He couldn’t ride well, had rusty equipment, found himself nursing a man with smallpox and after three months of misery was extricated by his brothers, discharged as ‘insane’.


The promise of pay in hard times was the principal draw, and the offer of a bounty of several guineas on joining. But the bounty often vanished immediately in buying uniform or paying debts. Even with a meagre increase in 1792, army pay was less than a quarter of what a man might earn as a hand-loom weaver, or a tenth of that brought home by a skilled worker after a week in the dockyards. Desperate for troops, the army stepped up recruiting and employed ‘crimps’, civilians who kidnapped men, forced them to sign up and held them in ‘crimp houses’ until they were marched off to a regiment. In September 1794, Londoners rioted and tore down the crimp houses; a year later, in a new round of protests, crowds pelted 10 Downing Street with brickbats.12


The man responsible for building up the army was Pitt’s close friend and drinking companion Henry Dundas, the bluff, fifty-one-year-old Scottish lawyer and politician who had been Home Secretary since 1791 and would be officially appointed as Secretary for War in 1794. In finding men, Dundas had little difficulty with officers, since the army was a chosen career for younger sons of the aristocracy and gentry. But since army commissions were bought, not won by merit or seniority – a cause of much later controversy – this did not necessarily mean the officers had any experience. By 1793, for example, Arthur Wellesley, later Lord Wellington, had stacked up commissions in five regiments without seeing a stroke of action, spending his time drinking, gambling and piling up debts.13 Aged twenty-four when war was declared, he obtained yet another commission, becoming a major in the 33rd Foot.


The officer class was thus a mix of veterans and entirely untried men. As for the ranks, after the American war the army had been cut to a minimum. In 1793 there were fewer than forty-five thousand men in the cavalry, foot guards and line infantry, and two thirds of these were already serving overseas, chiefly in India or Canada.14 In the past, when the British fought on the Continent, they had used German mercenaries and now they followed this tradition by hiring twenty thousand troops from Hanover and Hesse. But Dundas also needed to raise new British regiments, no easy task. He turned first to his powerful connections in Scotland. Despite the high cost, Highland magnates were keen to raise regiments, both to gain access to power in London, and to widen their influence through granting and selling commissions to the gentry: in the first two years, the Earl of Breadalbane, the Duke of Gordon, the Countess of Sutherland, Sir James Grant and the Chief of the Mackenzies raised several battalions.15 In comparison to the size of the population, more soldiers and far more officers would come from Scotland than from any other part of the British Isles. Ireland too provided many early recruits, and Scots and Irish soldiers amounted to half the British army in 1794.


Men were leaving fields and factories, farms and homes, to join the army. And they were also leaving to join the militia, the first line of home defence, organised by the Lords Lieutenant of the counties. A month before war was declared, William Rowbottom noted that ‘owing to the expectancy of an approaching war the lots for this part of the Lancashire Militia were this day drawn at Rochdale’. In late January the pace quickened for both army and militia:




Middleton, January 23rd, this day the New Militiamen for Manchester and Middleton Divisions were sworn in at the Bull’s Head Inn here, and owing to the probabilety of a war substitutes were hired from 5 guineas and a half to 10 guineas.


Manchester, January 26th, the Recruiting buisness goes on with the greatest alacrity, in this place there being no fewer than 54 recruteing parties of different Regiments.


Manchester, February 10th, it is as true as it is extrordinary that upwards of 1200 yong men enlisted in the different coars here in the course of the last 7 days as apeared in Harrops & Wheelans Manchester papers.16





The militia was an old institution, dating, it was said, back to the time of Alfred. Since the Civil Wars the British people had been wary of a large standing army under the control of a king, and the county militia was partly designed to balance this centralised force as well as being a professional reserve. The regiments were raised by ballot from men aged between eighteen and forty-five, and the numbers in each county had been set by the Militia Act of 1757. This now posed a problem since industrial towns were growing fast: the percentage of men taken by ballot in Dorset, say, was one in seven, while in Lancashire it was one in forty-five.17


A militiaman was bound to serve for five years. There were exemptions for peers, university dons, clergymen and dissenting ministers, apprentices and clerks, men who had children, even men who were too short (under five feet four), while men could buy themselves out with a £10 fine, or provide a substitute, offering a bounty. But from the start, the militia, like the army, drew unemployed men and those seeking excitement: ‘Oldham, March 8th,’ wrote Rowbottom. ‘Such is the rapid decrease of fustian weaving and the universal pant for glory that Thomas Dobson, James Cheltham and James Wolstoncroft of Northmoor entered into the Derbyshire Militia this day.’18 When the recruiting officer came back in June so many men flocked to him ‘that his order was soon stacked and it is supposed he might have had hundreds more, had he wanted them’.


In the county towns, magistrates worked at all hours, swearing in militiamen and arranging for transport and lodgings. Local inns were commandeered as billets, much to the innkeepers’ annoyance, as they had to throw out their normal guests, and the bills were paid late, and rarely in full. Backed by the townspeople they begged for proper barracks to be built, and soon an official barrackmaster general took on this massive task. Barracks, the government reasoned, would make it easier to move militia regiments to police disturbances in areas remote from their own homes, where they were less involved. Radicals like John Thelwall understandably saw this as an ‘alarming attempt to separate the soldiery from that mass of fellow citizens of whom they are a part; to whom they are allied; and whom it is their duty to protect in the full enjoyment of their liberty and happiness, and not to be made the instruments of their oppression and ruin’.19


At the start of the war there were only seventeen permanent infantry barracks: within twelve years there would be 168, for 133,000 men.20 But the regiments still descended on small towns. From Newport in the Isle of Wight, the Revd John Gill, with his daughters Sophia and Charlotte, tracked his son Jack’s progress around Britain with the Shropshire Militia. They worried about him, as the Revd Gill admitted in November 1794: ‘I dare say, my dear Jack, you are by this time weary of Camp and long to get into good and comfortable Winter quarters … But we must submit our wishes to the Will of those in power: this you know I always do, as a lover of my Country and my King.’21 Soldiers and militia filled the towns, drinking and brawling and devouring provisions. Ratepayers complained bitterly, since the daily allowance for the wives and children of militiamen – paid at one day’s labour at the local level – came out of the poor rates.22 In April 1794 the Oldham overseer paid the allowance to ‘upwards of seventy wives whose husbands are at this time soldiers’.


Alarmed by the prospect of invasion, within three weeks of war being declared, local gentry in the coastal counties began organising volunteer patrols and sending peremptory requests to the War Office for ‘Arms and Accoutrements for their use during the continuance of hostility’.23 The idea of arming the people made many commentators nervous: Pitt himself called it a dangerous experiment. But then came a startling move in France, the first real sign that a whole nation could go to war, rather than professional soldiers fighting on the country’s behalf. In August 1793 the National Convention announced a levée en masse. Just as the Revolution had given rights to the people, so the people, the Convention decreed, had an obligation to defend the state. All able-bodied men should be available to fight: unmarried men between eighteen and twenty-five were called up immediately, making up an army of almost eight hundred thousand men, trained within a year. Beyond that, everyone was expected to serve in some way:




The young men shall fight; the married men shall forge arms and transport provisions; the women shall make tents and clothes and shall serve in the hospitals; the children shall turn old linen into lint; the old men shall betake themselves to the public squares in order to arouse the courage of the warriors and preach hatred of kings and the unity of the Republic.24





This was a jolt to the British way of thinking, prompting the government to consider how best to use their own people. Conscription was ruled out as too divisive, and recruitment, militia ballots and volunteering were stepped up.25 In March 1794, they sent out a call, through the Lords Lieutenant of the counties, to ‘Gentlemen of Weight or Property’ to form infantry and yeomanry troops to defend their local areas.26


At this stage volunteering was a game for the elite. Wealthy merchants, manufacturers and professionals as well as peers and gentry began to raise troops. Here too, the Scots were among the first. In Glasgow, citizens raised a staggering £13,938 14s 6d for the volunteer fund. Charlie Walker, owner of a famous shop at the Gallowgate Bridge, formed the Glasgow Grocers Corps, nicknamed the Sugar-aloes; Samuel Hunter, editor of the Glasgow Herald, founded the kilted Highland Regiment; Mr Geddes, who owned the Verriville glass works and pottery, had a corps called the Anderston Sweeps. During their three weeks’ drill ‘the musical bands in the evenings discoursed music in front of the residences of their colonels, which drew around them large crowds of citizens’.27 Here, and south of the border, colonels took immense pleasure in designing uniforms, with trimmed waistcoats and slim breeches, close-fitting jackets, and helmets with cockades and badges. One side effect was the new craze for boots, hitherto farmer’s footwear, worn by gentlemen only for hunting, now adopted even by Beau Brummell and the Prince Regent.28


There was something intoxicating about such display, and women too longed to be involved. A correspondent from Edinburgh wrote an open letter to ‘Mr Urban’ of the Gentleman’s Magazine, insisting, with tongue in cheek, that ‘Softness, delicacy, benevolence, piety, and, I may add, timidity (the guardian of virtue), are the natural characteristicks of women’. He damned the fashion for masculine dress, exclaiming that in Scotland, and sometimes even in England,




I have often seen them with short petticoats, short coats with epaulets, a Highland bonnet and feathers, and even with a sword by their side … But even this infringement, indecent and disgusting as it unquestionably is, is not quite as bad as that of learning them military exercise. Yes, Mr Urban, it is a fact that, in this town, since the corps of volunteers were embodied … the military fever has so far seized on several young and beautiful females as to make them submit to be drilled and exercised (privately of course) by a common serjeant.29





Could anything be more indelicate ‘than for ladies with their petticoats kilted, to submit to be taught the movements of a soldier by a Highland man without breeches’? They must leave military duties and the defence of our national dignity ‘to their fathers, their brothers, and their countrymen’.


Dashing as they looked in their tight coats and shiny boots, the volunteers were, however, hardly reassuring as a military force. Many signed up without realising how strenuous the duties were, forgetting their age, corpulence and frailty: one Scottish cavalry volunteer resigned, as he was, he said, ‘so severely hurt in my private parts by the sudden halting’.30
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4. FLANDERS AND TOULON





When the French Armée du Nord, led by General Dumouriez, marched from Antwerp to invade Holland, William V of Orange begged Britain for help. Less than a month after war was declared, on 25 February 1793, four battalions of the Guards, set sail to Flanders to aid the Austrians. Their commander, on the king’s insistence, was his second son, the twenty-nine-year-old Frederick, Duke of York. The order came so suddenly that officers out recruiting in the country only just reached London in time, as one recorded in lively doggerel for the Annual Register, describing his rush into the London coach from Devon halfway through supper, his pulling soldiers from the alehouses, and the dash down to Greenwich:




Our march interrupted by whiskeys and gigs,


Mad drivers, mad oxen, and obstinate pigs,


Men boxing, dogs barking and women in tears,


Harsh concert that threaten’d the drums of our ears.


Midst a bustle, dear Richard, beyond all compare,


At length we arriv’d at the Hospital-square.1





Although the head of the column arrived in good order, many of the men behind them, plied with drinks from well-wishers, had to be scooped up and stacked in carts. Still, it was a day of pageantry and patronage. Crowds gathered early in the dark, windy morning to wait for the dignitaries to roll up in their carriages. Queen Charlotte and all six of her fair-haired daughters, aged from nine to twenty-six, came bowling down the London road in two large coaches, alighting beaming and smiling under their feathered Gainsborough hats. They were followed by their uncle, George III’s brother, the Duke of Gloucester, and his family, and by their brother Prince William, Duke of Clarence, in a spanking coach and six. William – the Whiggish sailor prince, who had served in the American war and in the West Indies – was not given a ship in this conflict. He was in disgrace, both for falling downstairs drunk and, more seriously, for roundly opposing the war in the House of Lords. Much of the whispering in the crowd concerned his liaison with the actress Dorothy Jordan, rather than his naval service. (Two years before the Morning Post had reported, ‘Her terms are a £1200 a year annuity, an equipage, and her children by all parties provided for.’2)


Finally, at eleven, flanked by the Prince Regent and the Duke of York, the king rode in to the strains of the national anthem – as the officer poet put it,








Our sov’reign, God bless him! Belov’d and rever’d,


Benignantly smiling, amongst us appear’d.











He waved his cocked hat as each regiment marched past and then, while the royals took a late breakfast, the troops piled into boats and uniformed Greenwich pensioners rowed them out to the transports moored in the river. The last boatload left at three o’clock, the king waved his hat, the queen and princesses waved their handkerchiefs, and the coaches swept them back to London.




*





A haze of glamour surrounded the men who marched away that summer. Watching the regiments in their camps people felt that they too were taking part. In August, at a camp near Brighton, the troops staged a dramatic mock invasion. It was, wrote the Morning Chronicle, impossible to describe the effect:




the sublime appearance of those military talents displayed by the different commanders; the different positions taken by the troops; the rapid movements of the cavalry, now in lines, crowning the brows of the hills; now in columns, descending in fast gallop down the steeps, or along the sides of these beautiful swells of ground; the firing of cannon and musquetry, and the immense crowds of spectators, were wonderfully pleasing; and displayed as gay and festive a sight, as can possibly be imagined.3





The quality drove down from London in their carriages and the gentry from their estates. The spectators ranged from clergy and lawyers to traders selling food and quack medicines. Brighton camp retained its allure throughout the years of war, as Jane Austen noted in Pride and Prejudice, conjuring up for Lydia Bennett ‘every possibility of earthly happiness’. In streets thronged with officers:




She saw herself the object of attention to tens and scores of them at present unknown. She saw all the glories of the camp – its tents stretched forth in beauteous uniformity of lines, crowded with the young and gay, and dazzling with scarlet; and to complete the view, she saw herself seated beneath a tent, tenderly flirting with at least six officers at once.





The fictional Lydia had many real-life counterparts, in all classes. In Lancashire, Rowbottom wrote wryly, ‘As proof of the influence which the Military have over the fair sex a young woman possessed with less vertue than beauty, decamped from the Cotton Tree Oldham with one of the train of Artilery, but by the timely influence of her friends, this afair was quashed in its infancy.’ As with Lydia, these friends made sure the affair was squared: next day the couple ‘were privatly married at Stockport’.4




*





The Duke’s continental foray was successful at first. The Austrian armies, under the Prince of Coburg, defeated the French twice, winning back much of the Austrian Netherlands. They they drove south, besieging the border fortresses of Valenciennes, Condé and Mainz. Reading the news while he sat in Cheshire suffering from rheumatism in his shoulder, Reginald Heber told his sister that he hoped ‘that a Warm Bath and Pump will drive it as successfully and speedily as the Austrians have driven the French Scoundrells out of Brabant’.5 The whole Heber family were watching events keenly. Ten-year-old Thomas wrote solemnly to his brother Richard, then a student at Oxford, ‘Papa and Mama say you are an Idle Gentleman Commoner not to answere their Letter – I think the Loyal people in Oxford must be glad that Dumourier has withdrawn himself from Williamstadt. We rejoice at it very much.’6 Meanwhile Richard wrote to his aunt Elizabeth, his ‘dearest Pop’, to whom he was devoted, confessing that he saw events in France as a ‘dreadful catastrophe … devastation is all that can be expected for months to come. Sorry am I that we have been compelled to take an active part in the war against these wretches – however it is to be trusted, that such confrontation will speedily affect some reinstatement of something like order & tranquillity.’7
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Anon., The Wags of Windsor, or Love in a Camp








Everyone hoped for a speedy end. Soon they learnt that the Duke of York was pushing the French back in the Pas de Calais, and in late May, that he had taken command of the siege of Valenciennes, vital for its position on the Scheldt, flowing north to Antwerp. In London, Ann Michelson, a middle-aged woman who enjoyed sending social and political news to her friends and relatives in the country, reported that she had just seen Lady Dalrymple, ‘who may this moment be a widow; with tears and trembling she read me part of a letter she received last Saturday from her husband.’8 She need not have worried: Dalrymple, commanding a battalion of grenadiers, emerged safe, and was made a major-general. Wives and families everywhere circulated letters that described each stage of the conflict as it happened. Among the Guards in that first campaign was William Knollys, eighth Earl of Banbury, who wrote more than a hundred long letters to his mother, his pen dashing quickly over the hardships of army life, poor food, sleeping on hard ground, cold nights walking about to keep warm. There was plenty of entertainment in the towns they passed through, he told her, dances and plays and even pretty nuns. But as his mother and sisters read his letters they could also pick out threads that would be woven into soldiers’ accounts all through the war: a distrust of the press, who seemed set on undermining their achievement; a frequent sense of total confusion; and an awareness of the threat to local people. From a camp near Valenciennes, ‘having been in a Continual bustle, owing to the awkwardness of our Situation & the turbulence of the times of this Country’, Knollys wrote:




When our business is over no one can possibly tell, for our orders are given one Hour, we march the next, & even our Field Officers are ignorant … the villages through which we march are plundered, fine Edifices destroyed, so that we sleep in Stables, Churches & whatever we can find – I am sorry to tell, that the Combined Armies distinguish neither Friends or Enemies in their Progress, and Devastation marks our Advance, in deed it is almost impossible to avoid it, for when our soldiers starve & literally we have no Provisions provided, it is impossible to stop them from taking what they can.9





That summer, the troops sweated in another heatwave, reaching ninety degrees. In Paris in June, a coup put Maximilien Robespierre and the Jacobins in power, sealing the fate of Marie Antoinette and many others. So when British troops finally stormed the ramparts of Valenciennes on 28 July there were loud celebrations. At Astley’s Amphitheatre in London, Philip Astley, an old soldier who had tried to volunteer at the start of this war at the age of fifty-one, staged a bold re-enactment of the siege, including the firing of a cannon that had been captured there.10


In August the Duke of York’s forces headed towards Dunkirk. The signs were good and French morale was low: General Dumouriez had defected to the Austrians, while other generals who failed had been summarily recalled – some to the guillotine. But this month the news of the French levée en masse brought the prospect of thousands of fresh volunteers, while the Flanders campaign was undermined by Dundas recalling troops to redeploy to the West Indies or the Mediterranean and by York’s conflicts with his allies. As the French troops pressed forward again it seemed that the British might be cut off and surrounded. In early September the London papers revealed that York had been slowly withdrawing from Dunkirk under cover of darkness, abandoning guns and stores. After dining with the duke in Belgium, Sylvester Douglas, later Lord Glenbervie, wrote in his diary that he had talked ‘with considerable earnestness’ about his complaints against the ministers and especially the Duke of Richmond, head of the Ordnance, ‘in the affair of Dunkirk. His heavy artillery which had been promised did not arrive until three weeks after the time.’11 When it did come, it was worse than useless. But why, critics asked, was no naval squadron there to support him?


In the south of France too, British hopes rose – and then fell. The Jacobin coup had prompted counter-revolutionary uprisings in the Vendée, Lyons, Marseilles and Toulon. In August the sixty-year-old Lord Hood, a veteran of the Seven Years War and the American war and now admiral of the Mediterranean Fleet, responded to a request from the Toulon rebels and took the port with a combined force of British, Spanish and French émigré soldiers. This dazzling move promised to destroy France’s naval strength in the Mediterranean and give Britain a southern French base. But in September, the same month as York’s retreat from Dunkirk, the revolutionary army laid siege to Toulon. After three months the French troops drove out the British garrison, under the command of an unknown officer, twenty-four-year-old Napoleon Bonaparte.


As the soldiers ran to the ships, with women and children screaming and scrambling on to the boats, Captain Sir Sidney Smith tried to burn the Arsenal and scuttle the French fleet. In the process he blew up two British gunboats. ‘Having now set fire to everything within our reach, exhausted our combustible preparations, and our strength, to such a degree that the men absolutely dropped on the oars, we directed our course to join the fleet,’ Smith explained to his admiral.12 It was not a glorious moment.
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5. SCARLET, SHOES AND GUNS





When the war began, government stocks dipped, losing a fifth of their value. There were many bankruptcies – ‘Have you heard of the terrible Crash among the Bankers at Chester and Liverpool?’ asked the Revd Heber; ‘… everybody is sorry for the Chester Bankers who it is said are taken in for at least sixty thousand pounds, between Caldwell of Liverpool & Forbes, a Banker in London who it is said decamp’d for France the Land of Rascals with seven hundred thousand Pounds’, intending to buy church lands.1 ‘In Wheelers Manchester Chronicle of August 31st,’ noted William Rowbottom, ‘it apeared that since January last owing to these dismal times no less than 873 Commisions of Bankrupsey had been issued out.’2 Many merchants and manufacturers were anxious about the intricate lines of credit that supported their trades, but others rubbed their hands – while large-scale building works like the crescents of Bath ground to a halt, builders, for example, looked forward to big contracts for barracks, fortifications, arsenals and wharves.


A horde of army contractors leapt into action. Soho Square in London, built in the late seventeenth century, was home to politicians and colonels and clergy, congregating in London during the parliamentary session. Slowly the merchants moved in, like young John Trotter. He had been an army contractor during the American war, and when it ended he pointed out that it was ridiculous to sell off military stores and then buy them again more expensively at the first hint of alarm. Instead he offered to store them himself. This was agreed, and in 1785, aged twenty-eight, he set up his business at number 5 Soho Square. With the new war, Trotter acted fast, moving into number 7 Soho Square and using numbers 4, 5 and 6 to build a warehouse. Soon he was channelling all the stores the government might demand: tents and camp kettles by the hundred, knapsacks and canteens by the thousand. Within five years he was doing so well that he bought Dyrham Park in South Mimms in Hertfordshire, the estate of Admiral Keppel’s son William – house, park, home farm and land.3 Other army agents, keen for a slice of the action, soon shouldered into the square: John Crawford, John Dickson, Benjamin Andrews and the Duberley brothers, ‘Contractors to the Armies’.4


There were grand tailors too in Soho Square, taking in orders for the regulars, the militia and the flashily dressed volunteers. In October 1798 James Duberley, Trotter’s neighbour, handed one militia colonel a bill for £1369 9s 4d, for clothing supplied over the past year.5 Behind the tailors came the wool and cloth merchants, supplying ‘scarlet’ for officers, ‘red’ for the ordinary soldiers and militiamen and superfine broadcloth for the yeomanry volunteers, the cream of the local gentry. (A crisis came when the vital cochineal from Mexico for the red dye, imported through Spain, was cut off by the war.) The London tailors sometimes hired out the work to a mass of poorly paid workers: Messrs Silver & Co. used women and children in the city and the counties around to make the favourite ‘frilled or full-fronted linen shirt’.6 But on the whole the masters employed journeymen tailors, who were paid by the day or for piece-work, and who clung to their rights, being divided between ‘flints’ who worked by day, and ‘dungs’ who worked by night, usually for lower wages. They formed one of the strongest of the journeymen’s unions, operating from ‘houses of call’, informal labour exchanges in pubs in the City and the West End where they waited until a job came their way. In these days of high demand, they did not have to wait long, and their wages of around a pound a week increased yearly until 1813, almost the end of the war. They were doing so well that colonels who wanted resident tailors to accompany their regiment or militia corps found it hard to persuade them to leave London for country wages.


Like the tailors, shoemakers were never short of work. Many were independent: a man might work in his shop, measuring feet and cutting out the leather – a skilled job – while the stitching was done by his wife and children at home. But now that each soldier was, in theory at least, supplied with two pairs of shoes plus spare soles and heels, there was a sudden demand for thousands of pairs and shoemakers began to work on a new method, using standard sizes. The demand put pressure on prices and upset the market. The navy supplier Mr Murray complained in 1793 that prices had risen fast, not just from the increase in the cost of leather, ‘but from the very uncommon demand for the last 5 or 6 months having rendered that Article not only dear but very scarce’. Matters were made worse, he said, by ‘a demand for upward of 30 thousand pairs of shoes for the said Militia, which are at this time manufacturing in different parts of the country, but has taken from us many useful journeymen and has occasioned an increase in wages’.7 A great distribution of orders followed, with London contractors providing cut uppers and sole leathers, then sending them out to the shoemaking districts of Northamptonshire and Staffordshire to be stitched, packed in baskets and carted back to London.




*





Every battalion in the army, every ship in the navy, also needed arms and ammunition, maps and charts. A list of stores and equipment supplied to each ship ran from ‘iron ordnance with carriages’ though axle trees, trucks, ladles and sponges, heads and rammers, spikes, round shot and grapeshot with boxes to hold them, down to ‘hand grenadoes’, powder measures, muskets and bayonets, pistols, cartridges, flints and oil.8 The body responsible for supplying all these was the Ordnance Board, a medieval institution that still had its headquarters in the Tower of London, with additional offices in Palace Yard, Westminster. Since its chief officer, the Master General, was usually a statesman or soldier and was often away, the practical work was done by members of the Board – the Lieutenant General, Surveyor General, Clerk of the Ordnance and Clerk of Deliveries – and their staff. One of their responsibilities was the production of maps, often surveys of ports and other militarily strategic spots, and in 1793, the pioneering ‘Trigonometrical Survey’ team began working on maps of the southern counties, as part of the ‘Ordnance Survey’ put in place two years before.9


The Board had its own industrial plants, like the gunpowder mills at Waltham Abbey and Faversham, but its oldest and most famous site was the ‘Warren’ at Woolwich Arsenal, the base for the Royal Military Academy and for the Royal Regiment of Artillery, the Gunners. After Ordnance reforms in the 1780s, the whole stock was now regularly tested and weak guns condemned. New gun locks, brought in in 1793 – a decade before the French used them – allowed naval gunners to sight more accurately, looking down the barrel and allowing for the pitch and roll of sea. Woolwich took pride in its great foundry, built in the American War for casting brass guns.10 The casting was dramatic and dangerous, with glowing metal pouring into moulds stacked in earth in the great pit, and the boring of the cannon was absolutely up to date, with a new, horizontal boring machine.
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Cannon manufacture in the Royal Brass Foundry, Woolwich








The Ordnance had yards at all the ports, and the Arsenal was regarded as one of the wonders of the day. One visitor in 1798 described it as ‘the Palladium of our Empire, where one wonder succeeds another so rapidly that the mind of a visitor is kept in a continual gaze of admiration’.11 The Royal Artillery made their tests of new cannon as spectacular as possible, staging dramatic displays before huge crowds on Woolwich Common and the marshes, firing off different types of guns, rockets and smoke bombs at flags, mock fortresses and specially built earth banks, with the shots roaring like thunder and sparks and flames shooting high into the London sky.12


In 1793, however, the Board faced a problem: they needed over two thousand extra cannon quickly, and around the same number as replacements each year. From the start, they relied on private contractors. Orders for cannon and for the shorter, lighter carronades went out to big gunfounders like Walker & Co. of Rotherham, who rushed into work, laying down the cannon moulds in pits by their furnaces, pouring in the molten iron, cooling, fettling and cleaning the great guns, sending them down by boat to be tested. The cannon balls were also made here in circular moulds, finished by hand, with men chipping away at the heavy metal spheres to make them perfectly round so they would fly as straight as a gunner could aim.


Musket-making surged too. Along the lanes and alleys and over the roofs of Birmingham in the winter of 1792–3 the frost glittered, hard as steel. Yet within the open workshop doors men sweated in their shirts, sleeves rolled up, necks open, making handguns and muskets. The town hummed with the tapping of chisels, the ringing of hammers on anvils, the stamping of dies and punches, the shaving of steel. The ledgers in the gunsmiths’ offices bulged with slips of paper, orders ready for clerks to write up. Birmingham workshops had produced swords and weapons since Cromwell’s Commonwealth and gunmakers now clustered in the streets and lanes around St Mary’s Church. Here the back gardens of elegant Georgian houses became a maze of workshops, places for skilled men to hire a room, or make do with a few feet of bench space. The hub was Steelhouse Lane, where John Kettle ran two cementation furnaces, converting iron into steel by heating it with carbon packed into airtight chests. Further down the lane, the Galtons’ family firm was turning out hundreds of guns a week.13 Samuel Galton senior, once a draper’s apprentice in Bristol, had begun by making gun barrels and locks in the 1750s in the company run by his father-in-law, James Farmer, and had then bought up warehouses and workshops in neighbouring streets. His profits rose steadily, from government contracts during the American wars and from selling guns to the Africa traders, who often exchanged them for slaves.


At the start of the wars the Ordnance bought ten thousand muskets from Liège as well as placing orders with the Birmingham makers, the Galtons, Grices, Ketlands and Whatelys. Both sets of makers found it hard to keep up with demand. The brusque Duke of Richmond complained in frustration to Dundas that ‘all our Workmen have failed us in respect to the time they agreed to send in supplies’. As for Liège, the people there were ‘very dilatory’, could not work to a pattern, ‘and although the bore is the same, scarce any two of the musquets are similar’.14 Although there were talented British designers, like the gunsmith Henry Nock, it would take too long to introduce new, experimental models.15 Gunmakers were asked to send in anything they could make and they flooded the Tower with cheap guns of all shapes and sizes. As they had often done in the past, the government turned to the East India Company, which had supplies for its own private army and now agreed to transfer its current stock of arms and empty its warehouses. (It helped that Henry Dundas was also president of the India Board of Control, the government’s official liaison with the Company.) So great was the urgency that one Indiaman in full sail down the Channel was diverted into Portsmouth and five thousand stands of arms were requisitioned. In Birmingham the gunsmiths’ district rattled with business, making muskets, carbines and pistols, and sending gun barrels and locks to London to be ‘set up’ at the Tower.16 The Galtons, in particular, worked on larger and larger orders, including an unusual request for 5,100 ‘French pattern’ muskets at the high price of twenty-five shillings each.


For eighty years the gunmakers had a regular system of filling orders for the Ordnance. The Ordnance officials signed contracts for different components, supplying patterns and negotiating separately with individual manufacturers – barrelmakers and lockmakers, the furniture makers who made the brasswork, and the ‘small-work men’ who supplied pins, screws and triggers. When the finished parts were delivered to the Tower, they were sent out to ‘rough stockers and setters up’ who put the weapons together, sometimes including the bayonet. But depending on demand, Birmingham firms like the Galtons sometimes assembled the muskets themselves. The only problem was that the government was slow to pay, and some makers still preferred to deal with the East India Company, the Hudson’s Bay Company or the Royal Africa Company, who were not so strict on quality and came up with the cash more quickly. The big contractors negotiated with the small masters, who in turn negotiated with the artisans: bills and credit slips surged across the town and the outlying districts.17 There were no guilds here to dominate the industry and specialised workshops took on different parts of the process. At the barrel rolling mill, men shaped the finished steel plates round a cylindrical mandrel, welded them along their length to make the barrel and then smoothed and planed the rough barrels, inside and out. At another workshop, using water power or a hand-turned crank, they bored the barrels, finishing them to a precise internal gauge. Larger gunmakers like the Galtons had their own boring mills, but sent the barrels out to be ground to a smooth finish at a grinding mill.18


Different workers made the gun locks, shaping and fitting more than a dozen parts, while other workshops made the wooden stocks, the best for the army, from German or Italian walnut, the rest from beech, for the cheaper guns of the African trade. Behind every trade lay the tool-makers and their tools, even special cutters for making bullet moulds. There was a poetry to the making, a host of names: ‘stock-makers, barrel welders, borers, grinders, filers, and breechers; rib makers, breech forgers and stampers; lock forgers, machiners and filers; furniture forgers, casters, and filers; rod forgers, grinders, polishers, and finishers; bayonet forgers, socket and ring stampers, grinders, polishers, machiners, hardeners, and filers; band forgers, stampers, machiners, filers, and pin makers; sight stampers, machiners, jointers, and filers; trigger boxes and oddwork makers’.19 Then came the ‘setters up’, the jiggers – who tested the fit of lock to stock – and the stockers, percussioners and screwers, smoothers, polishers and engravers. Everywhere small boys ran between the workshops and warehouses carrying the parts ready for the next stage. Finally the three parts – lock, stock and barrel – were assembled and sent to the Ordnance, and from there, often haphazardly, to the regiments that needed them.


After four years of war the Ordnance adopted the East India Company’s standard firearm, the India Pattern Musket or a version of the standard military weapon affectionately known as ‘Brown Bess’. This was a smooth-bore musket, a muzzle-loading flintlock, fired by sparks from striking steel into a small pan holding gunpowder on the side, the flash leaping through a touch-hole into the barrel.20 It was slender and ‘elegant’ – strange term for a weapon of death – with a thirty-nine-inch barrel and a range of eighty to a hundred yards. When fitted with bayonets, these muskets were between five and six feet long, often taller than the soldiers who carried them. On the battlefield the infantrymen fired in mass volleys then charged with their bayonets, using the gun like a pike. The Brown Bess, while effective, was not technically advanced, but it was still demanding to make, since it required the correct stiffness of spring and delicate setting of the flint, and the Board cajoled the Birmingham makers to turn over to this pattern by giving them a higher payment for longer credit.


When the Galton company took this on, the man in charge was Samuel Galton junior – Samuel John to his family. Now in his forties, he had joined the company at seventeen and when he was twenty-one, in 1775, his father had put £10,000 into his business account and made him manager of the Steelhouse Lane firm. A year later he was a partner and by the 1780s he had quadrupled his investment. He and his wife Lucy, from a Scottish branch of the Barclay family, had five sons and three daughters and a house full of noise, music and books. Lucy was clever and humorous, knowledgeable about plants, birds and insects, a reader of Homer, Dante and Milton. Samuel was bulky and serious, with a piercing glance from beneath heavy brows. His daughter Mary Anne remembered how ‘he was usually occupied for a few hours every day at his house of business in Birmingham; but from about one o’clock, when he usually returned, he was chiefly engaged at home in intellectual pursuits; and of these he had an endless variety’.21 A former student at the dissenting Warrington Academy, he was a great supporter of Joseph Priestley, a friend of Matthew Boulton and James Watt, and a member of the Lunar Society, writing on optics, colour, canals and birds, and building up a fine library and collection of scientific instruments. As his wealth grew he moved his family to a mansion at Great Barr, just outside Birmingham: they spent their summers here and the winters in town.


Like all who supplied the army, Galton was raking in money. His profits grew year by year, and the £10,000 he had, when his partnership began, rose to £139,000 by 1799, a fortune made from war. But his gun-making put him in a difficult position. He and Lucy both belonged to old Quaker families, related by marriage to the Darbys, Gurneys, Lloyds and other powerful clans. And the Quakers were pacifists. At the Yearly Meeting in 1790 the Birmingham Meeting had issued a firm statement:




If any be concerned in fabricating, or selling Instruments of War, let them be treated with in love; and if by this unreclaimed, let them be further dealt with as those we cannot own. And we intreat that when warlike preparations are making, Friends be watchful lest any be drawn into loans, arming, or letting out their Ships, or Vessels, or otherwise promoting the destruction of the human Species.22





Galton’s attitude caused tension, and he felt the strain. To Mary Anne, his character, ‘earnest and impetuous, was not one of repose, and the various elements of which it was composed issued in conflict rather than rest’.23 In 1795, accused of ‘fabricating, and selling Instruments of War’, he and his father were formally investigated by the Meeting and threatened with ‘disownment’. A visit to examine them was arranged, headed by men they had known for years: Sampson Lloyd, merchant and banker, Joseph Gibbins, a metal merchant, and the jeweller James Baker. Furious, Galton answered forcefully, pointing out that the family had made guns for seventy years, without any rebuke, and arguing that making arms did not necessarily imply an approval of war: indeed guns were vital for defence and for keeping the peace. He would give no pledge about abandoning the business, but would, he said, ‘reserve to myself, a perfect Independence on that head’.24 On 10 August 1796, Galton was disowned by the Society of Friends, the formal body of the Quaker movement. Although his father now retired, Galton defiantly continued his trade. But he still wore his broad Quaker hat, and he and Lucy went to Meeting, as they had always done, to the end of their lives.




Notes


1 Bod. MSS Eng. lett. d. 198/23, Reginald Heber snr to Elizabeth Heber, 7 April 1793


2 OL Rowbottom; Wheeler’s Chronicle, 31 August 1793


3 Herts. ALS DE/Tr/T


4 Survey of London (1966), vols xxxiii and xxxiv: St Anne’s, Soho, 57–9


5 Emsley, British Society, 82; Forbes, Army Ordnance Services, i, 177–80


6 L. D. Schwarz, London in the Age of Industrialisation (2004), 186


7 TNA ADM 49/35 F. 98; Riello, Foot in the Past, 47


8 Morriss, Ascendancy, 199; TNA ADM 160/150


9 Hewitt, Map of a Nation, 137


10 Roger Knight, ‘The Fleets at Trafalgar: The Margin of Superiority’, in Cannadine (ed.), Trafalgar, 65–6


11 Gentleman’s Magazine 68 (August 1798), 648


12 Simon Werrett, ‘The Arsenal as Spectacle’, Nineteenth-Century Theatre and Film 37, no. 1 (Summer 2010), 14–22


13 Williams, Weedon, 43


14 H. L. Blackmore, British Military Firearms 1650–1850 (1961), 133


15 For Nock, see Blackmore, Firearms, 100–8


16 From 1804 to 1817 1,827,889 muskets, rifles, carbines, and pistols were made for the government: 3,037,644 barrels and 2,879,203 locks were sent to London, and over a million for the East India Company. Showell’s Directory of Birmingham, ‘Trades’


17 Evans and Ryden, Baltic Iron, 154


18 Ibid., 148–54


19 Showell’s Directory, ‘Trades’


20 See English Heritage video, ‘How to fire a Brown Bess musket’, available via YouTube


21 Schimmelpenninck, Life, 214


22 Society of Friends, Tamworth Meeting, 1790, written Epistle: BCA Galton MS 3101/B/16.2


23 Schimmelpenninck, Life, 256


24 Samuel Galton jnr to the Monthly Meeting in Birmingham, BCA Galton MS 3101/B/16.2: see Revolutionary Players website, Birmingham Museum and Art Gallery; also Samuel Lloyd, The Lloyds of Birmingham (1907), 120–32
























[image: ]





6. BRITISH TARS





After the setbacks of the failed siege of Dunkirk and the loss of Toulon, Pitt was determined to take a closer interest in the detail of campaigns. Wilberforce remembered him haring back and forth to Downing Street, and finding him in Westminster, ‘a great map spread out before him’.1 But if the Prime Minister was troubled about the army, there was no doubt, in the press and in the minds of the people, that the strength of Britain would lie, as it always had, in its navy.


Sailors were often viewed with suspicion, as if they carried a threat of danger, but the ‘honest tar’ – so named from his canvas jacket coated with tar to make it waterproof, the old tarpaulin – was already a symbol of defiance. When the fleets were in port the towns were thronged with sailors, officers in uniforms with cocked hats and hardened seamen with their rolling walk, flaunting oiled pigtails, short jackets and white trousers, embroidered down the seams with ribbons. Just as the military camps enthralled people, so did displays of naval power. In June 1793, Parson Woodforde took his niece Nancy to the Panorama in the Leicester Fields, ‘a fine deception in painting of the British & Russian Fleets at Spithead … It was well worth seeing indeed, only one Shilling apiece – I pd.– 0.3.0. We stayed about an Hour there – Company continually going to see it.’2


Although there was some tension between the Admiralty, who controlled naval manning, appointments and strategy, and the Navy Board, who built and kept up the ships, the navy was in fighting trim, at least with regard to warships. After the end of the American war in 1783, Pitt’s government had granted money for shipbuilding and launched new ships regularly. Then, at the end of the decade, during a dispute with Spain in 1789 over rights of navigation in the Pacific, a Spanish warship had anchored in Nootka Sound, a favoured base for whalers on Vancouver Island. Impounding British ships, arresting sailors and pulling down the British flag, the Spaniards claimed their country’s right to the whole of America’s west coast up to Alaska, which would be left to the Russians. Alarmed, the Admiralty speeded up the repair and arming of the fleet. The Spanish crisis was eventually resolved by negotiations but since then the navy had taken priority in government spending. At Portsmouth an impressive system of dry docks was built, where ships could be repaired and have their copper sheathing renewed, using an entirely new type of hard-rolled alloy bolt. This was developed by the industrialist Thomas Williams, owner of copper mines in Anglesey, factories in Birmingham and smelting works in Lancashire, who maintained his monopoly of coppering ferociously, making himself a millionaire.3 And while the naval dockyards repaired the ships, a host of private yards took over their building and visitors crowded to see new warships on the stocks.


Yet the Admiralty itself was far from efficient. The second Earl of Chatham, Pitt’s elder brother, who had been First Lord of the Admiralty for the past fifteen years, was notoriously lazy, a late riser who missed so many Admiralty Board meetings because of ‘ministerial concerns’ that he became known as ‘the late Lord Chatham’. When Pitt tactfully removed him in December 1794, hundreds of Admiralty letters were allegedly found unopened in his home.4 He was replaced by Lord Spencer, a Whig of the old school. Methodical and efficient, Spencer set about tidying up the chaos – encouraging promotion by merit and pushing through the appointment of talented officers. He appointed Jervis to lead the Mediterranean Fleet and Duncan to the North Sea and recognised Nelson’s talent at an early stage. To a certain extent the navy regulated itself: promotion could not be bought, as in the army, but was acquired through ‘interest’ or won by glory. In these early years of the war popular captains could still take their crews from ship to ship like feudal lords and corruption was not only endemic but viewed as essential: if a captain had the money to bribe a dockyard superintendent to give him the supplies he needed, so much the better.


For the families of naval officers, war brought anxiety but also hope of advancement and riches. When the sailors were away, often on long missions of months and years, their letters home were treasured and passed round, the replies carefully numbered so that those who received them could see if the sequence was broken, a packet lost at sea, abandoned in a wreck, burnt in a battle. Francis and Charles Austen, born in 1774 and 1779, the youngest of Jane Austen’s six brothers, both went into the navy. From the Royal Naval Academy at Portsmouth, Francis joined the frigate Perseverance in 1789 and then Admiral Cornwallis’s flagship the Crown, sailing in the Indian Ocean and becoming a lieutenant just before his nineteenth birthday. Following him, Charles became a midshipman in 1794 under Captain Thomas Williams, who was married to an Austen cousin, and joined in the capture of a French frigate, the Tribune, a first taste of glory.


Francis was authoritarian, precise, and a devout evangelical; Charles was easy-going, loved by his men. But both their careers showed the importance of influential allies such as Thomas Williams, and Admirals Bertie and Gambier, connections through their brother James’s marriage. Like many concerned parents, the Revd Austen pressured the Admiralty contacts who might help his sons. In 1798 Jane wrote excitedly to Cassandra, with a delight she later gave to Fanny Price in Mansfield Park when Henry Crawford intervenes with his admiral uncle to win promotion for Fanny’s brother William. Telling Cassandra that Admiral Gambier was optimistic about Francis being made commander, Jane ended, ‘There! – I may now finish my letter, & go & hang myself, for I am sure I can neither write nor do anything which will not appear insipid to you after this – Now I really think he will soon be made …’5 A few days later she reported Frank’s appointment to the Petrel sloop at Gibraltar. ‘This letter is to be dedicated entirely to Good News,’ she said. And as soon as she had ‘cried a little for Joy’, Cassandra must also take in Charles’s move to a frigate he had longed for, and her father’s offer to cover her current expenses: ‘If you don’t buy a muslin Gown on the strength of this Money, and Frank’s promotion, I shall never forgive You.’6




*





While officers clawed their way up, the Admiralty was desperate to boost the number of crews, relying more and more on the Impress Service, the press gang. To ‘impress’ – to stamp or seal – meant to register a recruit, and the press gang was an old institution, recently reorganised, with over sixty rendezvous stations in the ports and in industrial towns inland.7 In addition, captains could press men from ships captured at sea. Technically the officers on land were only allowed to impress watermen and seamen, but they could also take ‘volunteers’, enabling magistrates and constables to hand over troublesome drunks and minor felons. Above all the gangs wanted trained seamen. Immediately they met resistance, particularly in the merchant ports of the north-east, like North Shields and Whitby. Two weeks after war was declared, sailors and ships’ carpenters wielding axes and tools and women hurling stones saw off the Tyneside gang with a traditional humiliation of their jackets turned inside out. ‘On Tuesday last’, the Newcastle Courant reported, ‘the sailors of this port dismissed the press-gang from North Shields, with the highest marks of contempt; – with their jackets reversed. They were conducted by a numerous mob to Chirton-Bar, and who, on parting, gave them three cheers, but vowing that, should they ever attempt to enter Shields, they should be torn limb from limb.’8


Whitby, with its river and harbour sheltering under the old abbey, had 250 boats, some sailing to the Mediterranean or America and others whaling in the Greenland seas: four thousand men from the town had served in the American wars, and the townsfolk were determined that this would not happen again. As soon as the warrant officer, Captain Shortland, set up his rendezvous, a crowd of a thousand men and women attacked it, broke down the doors and ran the gang out of town.9 Men and women played an equal part. Two ringleaders, Hannah Hobson and William Atkinson, were tried at York assizes in March under the riot act: Hobson was transported and Atkinson hanged.


Experienced sailors lived in fear of the gangs. John Nicol, a Scottish sailor, now nearly forty, had served in the navy during the American war, then worked on a whaler off Greenland, on a merchantman in the West Indies and on the Lady Juliana, transporting female convicts to Australia. On the way he fell in love with a convict, Sarah Whitlam, who bore him a son but disappeared in Sydney Cove and was never seen again. Much of his life was spent hunting for her. In 1794 when his ship reached Gravesend and ‘a man of war’s boat came on board to press any Englishman there might be’, Nicol and a friend hid among smothering bags of cotton, while their captain swore that all his hands were Portuguese. Borrowing a cocked hat from a customs officer, Nicol slipped off board, wary of informers among the watermen who rowed him and the waiters who served him. In the end he changed his mind, and a landlord informed on him with his own connivance, as a way of getting him to sea again to search for Sarah. The landlord ‘got the six guineas allowed the bringer, which he returned to me. He was from Inverness, as honest a man as ever lived.’ This was the start of years of naval voyaging, to the Cape of Good Hope, then to Java and China, and back to Norway and the North Sea.


Sometimes, through an odd stroke of luck, the gang was the door to an officer’s career. In late 1794 the Revd John Gill was worried about his second son, Tom, a merchant seaman who had been on a trading voyage to Nevis and Martinique, had nearly died of fever, lost his money gambling, and was now a prisoner of the French in Guadeloupe. From there Tom was handed over to an American captain and got a passage home, surviving a shipwreck off the north Welsh coast and walking to London, straight into the arms of the gang. As he stepped on to London Bridge, he wrote, ‘I was collared by two stout men, who soon gave me to understand they were part of a press gang purposely stationed there to catch such stray birds as poor me. Resistance was quite vain, for there were a dozen of them round me in a moment.’10 By chance, the captain who questioned him knew his home in the Isle of Wight, and since they had naval friends in common, put him down as able seaman but told him to consider himself a midshipman, a junior officer. Joining the fleet at the Nore, the anchorage off Sheerness where the Medway meets the Thames estuary, Tom sailed on into the war.


In its drive to strengthen the navy, the Admiralty also turned to the government’s great ally, the East India Company, which had its own ‘Marine’, a fleet of armed ships a hundred strong, that worked alongside the navy in Indian waters. These armed Indiamen with their well-trained crews could easily be converted into ships of the line. The Company also raised three thousand sailors and offered transport ships for troops and supplies, while its shipbuilding programme provided many trained shipwrights. In return the government protected the Company’s interests, hardly a worry for parliament, as between sixty and a hundred MPs were substantial owners of India stock, including an increasing number of Company directors and nabobs enriched by their stay in India. This protection annoyed the cotton manufacturers, who lobbied hard to end the Company’s monopoly. Samuel Greg of Quarry Bank Mill wrote angrily to his friend William Rathbone in Liverpool, noting that Dundas was stressing the Company’s ability to carry goods more cheaply than independent traders, but hoping that the whole business would be discussed openly, and ‘the Interests of the Body of the Kingdome weigh’d against that of a few Rapacious & Corrupt Individuals, for I cannot consider the Company in any other light’.11


All the merchants trading overseas now needed protection from  the navy, and in its desire to build strong links, the City bestowed honorary freedoms, gold boxes and swords on successful captains. In 1794 the Lord Mayor of London and the corporations of other trading and industrial towns also opened subscriptions for extra bounties for volunteers: £5 for an able seaman, £2 10s for an ordinary seaman, and £1 10s for a landsman, who had never gone to sea before. But the captains’ dreams of riches went further than City rewards. The granting of prize money for captured ships and cargoes, laid down in the Cruizer and Convoy Act of 1708, offered a dream of fortune that could be shared – to a degree – by the lower deck as well as the officers. Captured ships were valued at special prize courts, then merchantmen and their cargoes were sold at auctions and warships bought by the Admiralty: an enemy merchantman was worth about £2500 in prize money, and a privateer, often a pirate ship, around £1250. The proceeds were divided by eighths, according to formal rules: the captain got a quarter, lieutenants and captains of marines shared one eighth, warrant officers like the boatswain and gunner and master’s mates another, and junior officers and midshipmen another. The rest of the crew took equal shares in a quarter. Above this, however, if the captured ship was sighted while a squadron sailed in formation, the final eighth went to the admiral or commander as his ‘flag-eighth’– a rule that led to many frigate captains lurking independently where they thought the treasure ships might run, well away from their squadrons, so that they could claim this for themselves.


Prize courts were slow, disputes could last for years and lawyers’ expenses bit into the promised gold. But sometimes dreams of wealth came true. When the San Iago, a Spanish galleon sailing under French colours, was captured in 1793, carrying specie worth a million pounds, the Commander in Chief, Lord Hood, scooped a royal £50,000, while £30,000 went to each of the four captains in his squadron, lesser amounts to officers and much smaller sums to the crews. In April the following year Captain Edward Pellew, sailing off Guernsey in the Arethusa, took two French frigates in a blaze of gunfire. Pellew’s commander, Sir John Borlase Warren, received the largest slice of prize money but the rest, shared among all five frigates of the Western Squadron, prompted some legendary celebrations. In Plymouth five ‘Harrythusers’ hired a coach, packed it with women, a fiddler and organ grinder, and a good supply of grog, and careered round the town for days until the money ran out.12
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George Cruikshank, Sailors on a Cruise: the crew of the Arethusa


spend their prize money in style
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In the late autumn of 1793 Lord Howe brought the Channel Fleet into port for Christmas, avoiding the winter storms. The fleet did not set sail again until next May, when it set out to escort a merchant convoy heading for the East Indies, a billowing cloud of canvas. Off the Lizard, Howe sent some of his ships with the Indiamen, then led the rest in search of the French Atlantic Fleet, rumoured to be protecting a convoy bringing American corn to Brest.


As fast-sailing sloops dashed back to the Channel, different reports came through. On 10 June the Gazette announced that Howe had met the French, and next day the London papers explained that he had sighted them on 28 May, four hundred miles west of the Isle of Ushant at the tip of Brittany, but had lost them again in two days of thick fog. Finally, on the morning of 1 June, battle was engaged. Seven French ships were captured and one sunk, her crew rescued by the boats from the British ship Alfred. Howe had defied the conventional pattern of combat where the ships sailed in parallel lines, raking each other with their broadsides. Instead, manoeuvring to get favourable winds, the ‘weather-gage’, he told his captains to turn, swoop down and engage their immediate opposites, then sail through the French line and cut off their escape – a tactic Nelson later borrowed. Not all the captains understood or followed these orders, and the convoy itself escaped, carrying the precious grain to a starving France, but in the ragged chaos the victory was undoubtedly Howe’s.


As news spread slowly across the country, householders and innkeepers lit candles and lamps in all the windows. When the fleet returned to Spithead George III and Charlotte, and three princesses, visited Howe’s flagship. But tourists like the London fencing master Henry Angelo, who visited the ravaged, dismasted prizes in Portsmouth found disturbing scenes:




When we went below deck, the scene was truly frightful; on each side were hammocks on the floor, with numbers of dying and wounded … At this moment I fancy I see their pale faces and black beards. Here great havoc must have been made, as the shot appeared, from the grooves on the deck, like that of a ploughshare on the earth, to have raked through the cabin, from stern to stem. Our curiosity did not last long; the smell, with the sight of the dying, and the groans of the wounded, soon put an end to our naval visit.13





Two days later, with his friend the artist Thomas Rowlandson, Angelo watched wounded prisoners being loaded into carts, groaning as the jolting ‘made their wounds appalling’. Many were boys, some not more than twelve, and several had lost both legs. In the evening they went to Forton prison, where Angelo found the misery too much to bear but Rowlandson lingered, drawing a French prisoner’s wretched death, ‘a ghastly figure, sitting up in bed, a priest holding a crucifix before him’.


Sailors’ accounts gave a grim view of what a naval battle meant: the gun teams sweating below in choking smoke; the flash and recoil of cannon and carronades, firing like thunder. On deck, masts and spars cracking and falling, with ripped sails and tangled rigging; shots crashing through the timbers sending huge jagged splinters that pierced flesh like spears; shouted commands, yells, shrieks of the wounded; the smell of gunpowder, blood and burning.


Such scenes were not mentioned in the celebrations, which set a pattern for the rest of the war. The Bury St Edmunds merchant James Oakes, after soberly recording the death of a local man, George Heigham, on the Royal George, noted on 18 June:




This evening very unexpectedly the town was illuminated on acct of the Victory gaind over the French Fleet the 1st June never havg had any Rejoycing in the Town on the Acct. It was pretty general considering the short Notice. – Ringing of Bells – firing of Guns &ca. All was not over before 2 O’Clock in the Morning.14





Although critics in London clubs held that ‘Black Dick’ Howe had left the officers who had disagreed with his orders off the honours list, showing a woeful disregard for custom, the battle was immediately called ‘the Glorious First of June’. Seizing the moment, Drury Lane mounted Sheridan’s sensational The Glorious First of June, with the stage turned into a sea. ‘Nothing can surpass the enchantment of this exhibition’, wrote one critic:




The vessels are large, perfect models of the ships they represent, and made with such minute beauty as to be worthy of a place in the most curious collection. All the manoeuvres of the day are executed with nautical skill, – the lines are formed; they bear down on each other; the firing is well managed, and kept up warmly, for some time on both sides.15





The performance ended with fireworks proclaiming ‘RULE BRITANNIA’, with showers of fire streaming from each letter. The play itself, though, had some surprising twists, since it showed the sailor hero William deserting to help the Russetts, the family of his dead shipmate Henry. The tangled plot involves a rackrent landlord and an unscrupulous lawyer, but at the end all is resolved and William goes back to sea, his desertion justified. In one swoop Sheridan blended naval brotherhood with the landsman’s fears of poverty, persuading his audience that if rights were respected, justice might indeed prevail.


The ‘Jolly Jack Tar’, manly, yet tender in his sympathy and capacity for sacrifice, became a central figure in wartime theatre, much appreciated by the sailors themselves. A relaxation of the Licensing Act in 1788 had led to a burst of provincial theatre building and Plymouth, for example, had two theatres, one in town for the gentry, the other near the docks for the navy.16 The sailors treated the playhouses like ships, with gallery aloft and pit below. They found work helping to hoist scenery, being men who ‘knew the ropes’, and stories abounded of them taking plays literally, shouting support and jumping on stage. The nautical song, like Charles Dibdin’s ‘The Heart of a Tar’, became a part of every evening’s entertainment:17








Your lords, with such fine baby faces,


That strut in a garter and star,


Have they, under their tambour and laces,


The kind honest heart of a tar?











In the later stages of the wars, Robert and William Chambers, at school at Peebles, had a teacher who often came to school extremely drunk. ‘When elevated to a certain pitch, he sung a good song about Nelson and his brave British tars; and this in itself, in the heat of the French war, extenuated many shortcomings.’18
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7. TRIALS AND TRIBULATIONS





In 1794 Robert Burns, hailed as Scotland’s national bard and feted in Edinburgh and in London, was a nervous man. Two years earlier, before Britain entered the war, radicals had planted liberty trees on market crosses around Scotland to celebrate French victories, and on the king’s birthday riots had broken out in Edinburgh. The protestors burned effigies of the Lord Advocate, Robert Dundas, nephew and son-in-law of Henry Dundas, an attack on both the Scottish Whig dynasty and the Westminster government.


Burns knew many reformers and progressive thinkers. His doctor and friend William Maxwell was one of the founders of the London Corresponding Society; he corresponded with Mary Wollstonecraft, with the Liverpool reformer William Roscoe and with members of the United Irishmen, and he sent poems, anonymously, to the opposition Morning Star. But Burns was now in his early thirties, a married man with children, trying to hold on to his post as an excise officer. He knew that hints of Jacobinism could cost him his job. When accusations of radicalism were laid against him in January 1793 he had written to his superior, Robert Graham of Fintry, defending himself against the charges as ‘brought by Malice and Misrepresentation’.1 He had never asked for ‘Ça ira’ in the playhouse, he said, although people around him were clamouring for it, ‘nor ever opened my lips to hiss, or huzza, that, or any other political tune whatever’. He had, he admitted, been ‘an enthusiastic votary’ of the French Revolution but his feelings had changed when France attacked Holland. ‘As to REFORM PRINCIPLES’, he wrote, with some ambiguity, ‘I look upon the British Constitution, as settled at the Revolution, to be the most glorious Constitution on earth, or that perhaps the wit of man can frame.’ The problem was that Britain had deviated from those principles, and ‘an alarming System of Corruption has pervaded the connection between the Executive Power and the House of Commons’. He got off with a reprimand, but in private he held to his views. A month after these protestations of loyalty, and a week after Britain and France went to war, he sent his friend Alexander Cunningham a ‘political catechism’, including ‘Politics is a science wherewith, by means of nefarious cunning, & hypocritical pretence, we govern civil Polities for the emolument of ourselves & our adherents.’2


Burns was wise to be wary. In Edinburgh the previous November, when Scottish radical groups had tried to hold a ‘British Convention’ – a term uncomfortably echoing the French – magistrates arrested the leaders, including the Unitarian minister Thomas Fyshe Palmer of Dundee, William Skirving of Edinburgh and the lawyer Thomas Muir from Glasgow, and charged them with sedition. On bail, Muir visited France and Ireland, where he met the leaders of the United Irishmen. In February 1793 he was declared a fugitive from justice and the following August he was captured landing in the far west of Dumfries and Galloway. Burns was at work in Dumfries as Muir was brought through on his way to Edinburgh. At his trial, Muir conducted his own defence before Scotland’s ‘hanging judge’, Robert McQueen, Lord Braxfield, whom the Scottish lawyer Henry Cockburn described as ‘a little, dark creature, dressed in black, with silk stockings and white metal buttons, something like one’s idea of a puny Frenchman, a most impudent and provoking body’.3


Braxfield would have hated to be thought a Frenchman. In his summing up, he told the jury that the question was to decide the prisoner’s guilt: ‘Now, before this can be answered, two things must be attended that require no proof: First, that the British constitution is the best that EVER was since the creation of the world, and it is not possible to make it better.’4


Muir was sentenced to fourteen years’ transportation in Botany Bay. (He escaped in 1796 and fled to France, appealing to the French to liberate Scotland.) His colleagues in the Convention were also transported, Palmer for seven years and Skirving and two delegates from the London Corresponding Society for fourteen. Braxfield’s judgement was crucial in tilting future charges from ‘sedition’ to the more serious charge of treason.5 A year later, when Joseph Gerrald, another British Convention member, claimed that the rights he argued for echoed the teaching of Christ, Braxfield nodded to the jury and said in broad Scots, ‘Muckle he made o’ that; he was hanget.’6


In June 1793, the cobbled streets of Dumfries saw ‘patriotic’ riots and on the king’s birthday the people of nearby Ruthwell burned Tom Paine in effigy. But on 30 August, the day set for Muir’s trial, Burns wrote to his friend George Thomson saying that he had been musing on the tradition that the old tune ‘Hey tuttie taitie’ was Robert Bruce’s march, played at the battle of Bannockburn in 1314, when his small force routed the English. This thought, Burns wrote, ‘warmed me to a pitch of enthusiasm on the theme of liberty and independence’. When ‘Scots wha hae’, entitled ‘Bruce’s Address at Bannockburn’, was published in the Morning Chronicle the following May it was clear to many that it was about the present struggles as well as those of Scotland’s past:








By Oppression’s woes & pains!


By your Sons in servile chains!


We will drain our dearest veins,


But they shall be free!







Let the proud Usurpers low!


Tyrants fall in every foe!


LIBERTY’s in every blow


Let us DO – or DIE!!!













So may God ever defend the cause of TRUTH and Liberty, as he did that day! – Amen!7





Edinburgh’s old town baffled strangers like the actor Charles Dibdin, climbing ‘in winding directions from among that throng of streets, where loaves, stockings, pitchers, hats, cabbages and numbers of other incongruous particulars were painted against the houses to denote the occupations of their inhabitants, who live up stairs into one street, and down stairs into another, burrowing like so many rabbits in a warren’.8 But the crowded town also held bookstalls, learned societies and students. The classical New Town, designed forty years before, now extended as far as Charlotte Square, from where, remembered Henry Cockburn, you could look across a grassy field down to the Water of Leith and listen to the call of the corncrakes.


Walter Scott, whose father was a good friend of Lord Braxfield, was an advocate here. Scott was thirty in June 1794 and he was quick to join the forces of order when riots began in Edinburgh on the king’s birthday, as they had the year before. Four days later, he wrote to his aunt Christian Rutherford, telling her that if they met he could describe:




how near a Thousand gentlemen (myself among the number) offered their services to the Magistrates to act as Constables for the preservation of the peace … how they were furnishd with pretty painted brown battons – how they were assembled in the Aisle of the New Church and treated with Claret and sweetmeats – how Sir John Whiteford was chaced by the Mob, and how Tom, Sandy Wood, and I rescued him …’9





Later that year, a cache of arms, supposedly collected by a former government spy, Robert Watt, was discovered in Edinburgh, appearing to prove contacts with Ireland and suggesting a foiled uprising. Scott went to the trials of Watt and his accomplice Downie, ‘which’, he said ‘displayd to the public the most atrocious & deliberate plan of villany which has occurrd perhaps in the annals of G. Britain’.10 Grabbing his seat early, he sat in court from seven o’clock until two the next morning, providing himself with ‘some cold meat & a Bottle of Wine’. In November he witnessed Watt’s hanging, watching as his head was cut off as a traitor and shown to the crowd. He was rather disappointed that Downie was not hanged too.


Although the trial of Watt and Downie was used to bolster government arguments about conspiracies, the fate of Muir and his colleagues roused widespread protests about Pitt’s repression of radical opinion. The Foxite Whigs held that the French Republic had been driven into war by Europe’s absolutist rulers. Pitt’s government, they declared, were now using the war to bolster the power of the Crown and their own aristocratic clique, reducing the influence of the Commons and suppressing free speech. Outside parliament, dissenters and manufacturers such as the Rathbones and Roscoes of Liverpool formed the ‘Friends of Peace’, convinced that the government’s war policies were a threat to civil liberty, imposing hardship on the poor and middling classes.
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Mock advertisement for ‘A New Tragedy’, Manchester 1794








For the past two years men had been prosecuted for speaking out. John Frost, a lawyer and a member of the London Constitutional Society, who had dared to say in a coffee house that all men should be on the same footing and there should be ‘no kings in this country’, was put in the pillory and sent to Newgate for six months. A Baptist minister in Plymouth, William Winterbotham, was sentenced to four years for saying that the Revolution had opened people’s eyes, and that if George III did not observe the laws, he had no more right to the throne than the Stuarts.11 But juries did not always comply with the government’s wishes. In February 1794 Daniel Isaac Eaton was prosecuted for publishing a speech by John Thelwall in his journal Politics for the People, calling for universal suffrage and an end to the war. The speech included a story about a cockerel, King Chaunticlere, beheaded for despotism: ‘A haughty sanguinary tyrant, nursed in blood and slaughter from his infancy, fond of foreign wars and domestic rebellions, into which he would sometimes drive his subjects, by his oppressive obstinacy, in hopes that he might increase his power and glory by their suppression.’12 Eaton, who had already been prosecuted unsuccessfully for selling Paine’s works, was acquitted amid much laughter when his defence lawyer suggested that it was the Attorney General who was guilty of seditious libel, since it was he, not Thelwall, who was implying that ‘Chaunticlere’ must be George III.


Two months later, the manufacturer Thomas Walker and nine other Manchester reformers, charged with conspiring to overthrow the king, constitution and government, were all acquitted and the informant was convicted of perjury.13 But in Oldham on Easter Monday, when the bachelors and married men played football (the married men won), a group calling for reform still had to fight off ‘a merciless mob’ attacking them as Jacobins.14


Though shaken by the Scottish trials, opponents of the war were determined to fight on. In April, while Walker’s trial was going on in Manchester, the London Corresponding Society called a huge general meeting at Chalk Farm: ‘the crowds that Packed there were inconceivable and beyond all my ideas,’ reported one spy.15 They planned, they said, to call their own ‘General Convention of the People’. After other spies reported secret drilling and caches of arms, the government suspended habeas corpus and on 12 May constables arrested Thomas Hardy, Secretary of the London Corresponding Society, and other activists, including Thelwall, Thomas Holcroft and the veteran reformer John Horne Tooke. When Wordsworth told his friend William Mathews that he disapproved of ‘monarchical and aristocratical governments, however modified’, his brother Richard advised him, ‘I hope you will be cautious in writing or expressing your political opinions. By the suspension of the Habeas Corpus Acts the Ministers have great powers.’16 They did: after more arrests many radicals fled the country or went into hiding.


Two weeks after Hardy and the others were imprisoned in the Tower, the news arrived of the Glorious First of June. During the celebrations, a loyalist mob hurled stones and bricks at Hardy’s home, and his wife, six months pregnant, was badly bruised as she fled: on 27 August she died in childbirth and her baby was stillborn. Hardy lost his livelihood, and his family.


So far no charges had been made. Finally, on 2 October, thirteen of the men arrested were indicted, not for sedition, but for high treason, which carried the barbaric punishment of hanging, drawing and quartering. In late October the Morning Chronicle carried an anonymous article arguing that the prosecution was shaky: the Treason Act specified rebellion and regicide, and made no mention of campaigning for reform or criticism of government. All Britons had a right to free speech. The author of the article was William Godwin. In 1793, in his Enquiry Concerning Political Justice, trying to stay above the rows around the Rights of Man, Godwin made the point that if people could be educated to use their reason fully and freely, exercising their private judgement in public life and debate, they could, eventually, hope to eradicate bad leadership: government, he argued, was formed on opinion.17 Now, when Daniel Eaton published Godwin’s argument about the Treason Act as a pamphlet, it influenced public opinion and anticipated to some degree the sharper legal arguments of the defence lawyer, Thomas Erskine.18


When the trials began at the Old Bailey in November, angry crowds gathered to support the defendants. From their office in Fleet Street, near Hardy’s shop, the clerks at Hoare’s bank watched as John Scott – the Attorney General, afterwards Lord Eldon – was mobbed on the corner of Chancery Lane. ‘The mob’, Eldon wrote, ‘kept thickening around me, till I came to Fleet Street, one of the worst parts of London that I had to pass through’:




and the cries began to be rather threatening. ‘Down with him!’ ‘Now is the time, lads,’ – ‘Do for him!’ – and various others, horrible enough. So I stood up, and spoke as loud as I could – ‘You may do for me, if you like, but, remember, there will be another Attorney-General before eight o’clock tomorrow morning, and the King will not allow the trials to be stopped.’ Upon this one man shouted out, ‘Say you so? you are right to tell us. Let’s give him three cheers, lads!’ And they actually cheered me, and I got safe to my own door.19





Despite the government’s attempt to pack the juries, in their separate trials the first three defendants – Hardy, Tooke and Thelwall – were quickly acquitted. After Hardy left court, the crowd unhooked the horses from his carriage and pulled it down the Strand to Westminster and Pall Mall. An embarrassed Pitt was called as a defence witness at Tooke’s trial and asked to confirm that in 1782, before he came to power, he himself had called for parliamentary reform at large public meetings – one of the charges against Tooke.20


The year before, Thelwall had thrilled an audience of doctors at the Physical Society at Guy’s Hospital with an ambitious lecture, not about the war, but about new vitalist, materialist theories concerning the physiological basis of life.21 This was alarmingly atheistic to many, but several doctors who heard him, including Astley Cooper and Peter Holland, were among the cheering crowds outside court after the acquittals; their teacher at St Thomas’s, Henry Cline, was a character witness for Thelwall and a close friend of Tooke. Yet the trials had an impact, and both young doctors had to suppress their views to keep their jobs. Thelwall himself continued to write, but left the Corresponding Society and masked his political speeches as lectures on classics. Tooke dropped his demand for universal suffrage, but remained a mentor to radical politicians of the years to come. Godwin, worried that his picture of unjust institutions in his novel, Things as They Are: or, The Adventures of Caleb Williams, published this year, might bring a charge of seditious libel, dampened his tone. Many of the popular debating societies closed down.22


The doctor, inventor and poet Erasmus Darwin, whose own lines welcoming the French Revolution had been reprinted in Eaton’s Politics for the People, felt the climate to be cold. Lamenting his friend Josiah Wedgwood’s death in early 1795, he joked that the world was only meant for the devil,




who seems daily to gain ground upon the other gentleman, by the assistance of Mr Pitt and our gracious – I dare not mention his name for fear that high treason may be in the sound; and I have a profess’d spy shoulders us on the right, and another on the opposite side of the street, both attornies! And I hear every name supposed to think different from the minister is put in alphabetical order in Mr Reeve’s doomsday book, and that if the French should land these recorded gentlemen are all to be imprison’d to prevent them from committing crimes of a deeper dye.23





America was the only place of safety, he thought, and what did a man past fifty want anyway? ‘Potatoes and milk – nothing else. These may be had in America, untax’d by Kings and Priests.’


No more was heard of the planned ‘Convention of the People’, and radical opposition was largely suffocated. Newspapers like the Sheffield Iris, Chester Chronicle, Morning Post and Newcastle Chronicle dropped support of revolutionary aims and suppressed their criticism of the war. The nation must resist ‘even that heavenly boon, Liberty,’ declared the Newcastle Chronicle, ‘if it be attempted to be crammed down our throats by foreign bayonets.’24 But the fight still went on, and in defiance of this silencing satirical handbills still appeared on walls and in taverns attacking the subsidies to the allies and ‘Mr Bottomless Pitt’.




*





Many radicals, like Burns, held on to their beliefs in private while being careful in public. Aged only thirty-six, Burns was often ill and was anxious about getting a pension to help his children if he died: it was important to look loyally ‘patriotic’. He turned up, with many of his close friends, as well as Alexander Findlatter, his superior in the Excise, to the crowded meeting in the courthouse on 31 January 1795, chaired by the deputy lieutenant of the county, to discuss the formation of the Royal Dumfries Volunteers. There was no pay, and yet the minute book specified an elaborate uniform:




a blue coat half lapelled with red cape and cuffs, and gilt buttons with the letters R.D.V. engraved on them; a plain white Cassimere vest, with small gilt buttons; white trousers made of Russia tweeling, tied at the ankle; white stockings; a black velvet stock; hair to be worn short, or turned up behind; a round hat turned up on the left side with a gilt button, a cockade, and a black feather; their shoes to be tied with black ribbon …25





Volunteering could be expensive, but it offered a release from the militia ballot and it showed your loyalty. Burns swore the oath of allegiance and joined the regular drills. A month later, the Dumfries Weekly Journal carried his poem, beginning:








Does haughty Gaul invasion threat?


Then let the loons beware, Sir,


There’s WOODEN WALLS upon our seas,


And VOLUNTEERS on shore, Sir.











But the ending of this poem, ‘We’ll ne’er forget the People’, made the message less straightforward. And although this song was published as ‘The Dumfries Volunteers’ under Burns’s name in the Edinburgh Courant on 4 May, at the same time a rather different poem appeared anonymously in the Glasgow Magazine, a vernacular rendering of liberty, fraternity and equality:




A Prince can mak a belted knight


A marquis, duke, an’ a’ that;


But an honest man’s abon his might,


Gude faith, he maunna fa’ that!


For a’ that, an a’ that,


Their dignities an’ a’ that;


The pith o’ sense, and pride o’ worth,


Are higher rank than a’ that.26





The following spring, despite bathing in the famed salt water of Ruthwell spring, among the reedy marshes fringing the Solway, Burns was mortally ill. On 1 June 1796 he wrote to Maria Riddell, with whom he had a long, up and down, flirtatious relationship, telling her that he was racked by rheumatism:




Would you have me in such circumstances copy you out a love-song? No! if I must write, let it be Sedition, or Blasphemy, or something else that begins with a B, so that I may grin with the grin of iniquity, & rejoice with the rejoicing of an apostate Angel.


– All good to me is lost:


– Evil, be thou my good!27





He had never paid for his volunteer’s uniform, and when the tailor David Williamson, seeing his customer was dying, presented his bill, Burns flew into a rage, humiliated by having to beg the sum from friends. Towards the end, according to his editor and biographer, the poet Allan Cunningham, he pleaded with a fellow volunteer, ‘John, don’t let the aukward squad fire over me?’28 But they did. On Monday 25 July 1796, soldiers in uniform lined the streets to St Michael’s Church: the volunteers, the Cinque Port Cavalry and the Angusshire Fencibles. The cavalry band played Handel’s Dead March, the volunteers, with black armbands, were the pall bearers, and the fencibles fired three volleys over his coffin in the open grave.




Notes


1 The Letters of Robert Burns, ed. J. De Lancey Ferguson, 2 vols (2nd edn 1985), ii, 173–6, 8 January 1793. See Crawford, Bard, 363–74, and Ian McIlvanney, Burns the Radical (2003) for Burns’s political views


2 Burns, Letters, ii, 182, 20 February 1793


3 Henry Cockburn, An Examination of the Trials for Sedition which have hitherto occurred in Scotland (1888), quoted in Hostettler, Dissenters, 142


4 Hostettler, Dissenters, 142


5 See Barrell, Imagining the King’s Death, 150–69


6 Cockburn, Memorials, 116; Michael Fry on Braxfield, ODNB


7 Burns, Letters, ii, 235–6, 237, to George Thomson, c.30 August, 8 September 1793


8 Charles Dibdin, Observations on a Tour Through Almost the Whole of England, and a Considerable Part of Scotland (1801), 329


9 Scott, Letters, i, 30–1, to Christian Rutherford, 8 June 1794


10 Ibid., i, 34, to Christian Rutherford, 5 September 1794. See Barrell, Imagining the King’s Death, 252–84


11 David Cressy, Dangerous Talk: Scandalous, Seditious, and Treasonable Speech in Pre-Modern England (2010), 245–6


12 Politics for the People, viii, 104, quoted in Barrell, Imagining the King’s Death, 104


13 See Barrell, Imagining the King’s Death, ch. 5, ‘The Trial of Thomas Walker’, 170–81


14 OL Rowbottom, 21 April; see also 23 July 1794, 14 March 1795


15 Thale, Selections, 135, ‘Report from Spy Groves’, 14 April 1794


16 Gill, Wordsworth, 85


17 Mark Philp, ‘Preaching to the Unconverted: Rationality and Repression in the 1790s’, Enlightenment and Dissent 28 (2013), 73–88


18 [William Godwin], Cursory Strictures on the Charges Delivered by Lord Chief Justice Eyre to the Grand Jury, 2 October 1794 (1794). For Godwin’s argument and the trials see Philp, Godwin’s Political Justice, 118–20; Barrell, Imagining the King’s Death, chs 10–12, 285–401


19 Horace Twiss, The Public and Private Life of Lord Chancellor Eldon, with Selections from his Correspondence (1829, 1844 edn), i, 269–70


20 Hague, Pitt, 364


21 The lecture was ‘Animal Vitality’, delivered January 1793, later developed as ‘On the Origin of Sensation’: John Thelwall, An Essay Towards a Definition of Animal Vitality (1793): Nicholas Roe on Thelwall, ODNB


22 For repression of intellectual life, see Johnston, Unusual Subjects; for debating societies see Donna T. Andrew, London Debating Societies, 1776–1779 (1994) and her database on debates listed in the press, via British History Online, www.british-history.ac.uk


23 Desmond King-Hele, The Collected Letters of Erasmus Darwin (2007), 471–2, Erasmus Darwin to Richard Lovell Edgeworth, 15 March 1795


24 Barker, Newspapers, 191


25 Royal Dumfries Volunteers, Minute Book: Ewart Library Dumfries: see William Will, Robert Burns as a Volunteer (1919), 24


26 Crawford, Bard, 385


27 Burns, Letters, ii, 382, to Maria Riddell, 1 June 1796


28 [Allan Cunningham], ‘Robert Burns and Lord Byron’, Caledonian Mercury, 16 August 1824, and originally in London Magazine. This may be apocryphal as the details of Cunningham’s memoir were soon challenged.










OEBPS/a042_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a067_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a056_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a039_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/faber-branding-logo.png





OEBPS/a027_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a023_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a007_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a022_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a031_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a0xi_1_online.png
Principal places for
In These Times

Birmingham +
it AIEROTP, Coidge , 1BUry S Edmunds

Wesdon Bec* s champtNewrmar
Swanbourres  Halogbry

Oxford,
hepstow I.end-m =,
oy
STy
; e
[ o M{/
,f W‘%": [
= i

ann
[
i

Cmouth eweLish canwEL
¥ d

o P 10 mies

—_— )
Tk e o £





OEBPS/a049_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a071_1_online.jpg
in Prepardtion; and fpeedily will be W’ =
7 ’. ' :. ’v

Sole Benefit of the Authors and

ENTITLED,

ANOTHER CAMPAIGN. g

Being Part the Third, of that mtan'lm{fy diftinguifhed Perform
known bygthe Name of

og the Determination. of
g the Dt minces o the Kind,che Public may teft afird, t

e o peseeive in e Contsivance and Management of the ot
Delefl they may Dot Exgenie being fpared, or of the Want of TRAGIC FE(

e Cairophe,
b The Prrscirar Pans will be calt as follows ¢

NUMPS, by
FAITH OF TREATIES, King of Pruffa.
DONE UP, Emperor of Germany. &
NEW ALLY, Madone Catharina Damnable,
WEDDERBURNE, Lord Loughborough-
ACTING MANAGER, M. Bottomlefs Pitt. -t
CHIEF MANAGER OF THE UNDERPLOT, Mr. Rumbold St ion Dundas.
CONFIDENTIAL_ASSISTANT, Mr. Subornation Gryj
AGENTS, Thoas Dunn, Bigamy Taylor, Upton, Groves, Gofling, Linaim, &c. &6, ad iy
And the Part of ; 5!
Nunde,* by Mr. JOHN BULL.

"The inferior Pans of Fightng, Dying, and Siaring, by brave Soldi
unempl ~

Between each A&, Mr, BOTTOMLESS PITT will Sing,
YE Gens, who with me for the gpodof the ationy concillate confirming each friend,
it idret ol bbb bl
R e, b e e,
Tt G e e i
i e e e T

i
ot
el i Paament!)

y
e i o o ey

L S et st o e

AV ok e g s BovTowLhssBiees

Afier the Tragedy will follow & FARCE, called

John Bull turned into a Milch Afs.





OEBPS/a046_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/logo_1_online.png
i

FABER & FABRBER





OEBPS/a013_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a001_1_online.png





OEBPS/a063_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/a0vii_1_online.jpg





OEBPS/9780571312627_cover_epub.jpg
Living in Britain through
Napoleon’ sWars 1793 1815

ENN
GLOW





